PCB Prototyping Software

Version v5.74.4

User's Manual





Table of Contents

1. IsoCAM3000 Basics	
1.1 First installation of IsoCAM3000	
1.2 Upgrade of an existing IsoCAM3000 installation	5
1.3 Machine parameters' setup	
2. CAM mode	
2.1 Gerber/Drill Import	
2.1.1 Window for Gerber/Drill files import	7
2.1.2 Gerber/Drill files import	8
2.1.3 "Gerber View" window	
2.1.4 Profiles for automated Gerber & Excellon import	
2.1.5 Gerber RS 274-D files import	
2.1.6 Gerber files for Stencils Import	
2.1.7 Convert Gerber to Drill	
2.1.8 Info layers import	
2.1.9 Gerber editor	
2.1.10 Single layer PCB import	
2.2 IsoCAM3000 Project Files	
2.3 Buttons and fields used in CAM mode	
2.4 Tools	
2.4.1 "Insulate" Tools	
2.4.2 "Cut" Tool	
2.4.3 "Rubout" Tools	
2.4.4 "Drill" Tool Table	
2.4.5 "Stencil" Tool (Pro version only)	
2.4.6 Project Tools	
2.5 Object selection mode	
2.6 Move Objects	
2.6.1 Moving objects using the mouse	
2.6.2 Move using "Rotate & Move Selected Objects"	
2.6.3 Move using "Move To …"	
2.7 Clone (Copy) objects	
2.9 Group/ungroup objects	
2.10 Delete objects	
2.12 Editor for the mechanical layor	
2.12.1 Contour cutting selections	
2.12.2 Contours selection in the mechanical layer	
2.12.3 Contours generation with "IsoCAM3000 Printer"	
2.12.4 Generation of contours with <a>["Insert Lext"] 2.13 <a>[Physical Rules Violation (DRV) detector	
2.13 enjoy besign rules violation (DRV) detector	



2.14.1 Thumbtacks	63
2.14.2 Registration Pins	63
2.15 Insulating copper rubout	
2.16 CAM350 import	
2.17 DXF import	
2.17.1 Selecting DXF layers for "Cut" operation	70
2.17.2 Selecting DXF layers for Drill & Countersink	70
2.17.3 Selecting DXF layers for milling (MILL)	71
2.18 Holes and pads insertion	71
2.18.1 Holes insertion	71
2.18.2 Through-hole pads insertion	72
2.18.3 Insert Target	72
2.19 Vector Text insertion function	73
2.20 Breakout Tabs	75
2.20.1 Breakout tabs insertion	75
2.20.2 Breakout tabs removal	77
2.20.3 Breakout tab width setting	77
2.20.4 Breakout tabs complete removal	77
2.21 Units of measurement [mm]/[in]	
2.22 UNDO/REDO	
2.23 Forced Insulation	
2.24 Remove spikes (IPD)	
2.25 Measure	
2.26 G-Code / HPGL Export from IsoCAM3000	
2.27 Gerber Export	
2.28 Print	
2.29 Panelization	
2.30 Marking Drill	
2.31 Holes Selection / Modifications / Removal	
2.32 QR Code	
2.33 DataMatrix	
2.34 Pick & Place Helper	
3. Setup 🖬	
3. I UNU process control settings	
3.2 G-Code post processor adjustments and selections	
3.3 Display settings	
3.4 Multithreading & ISOCAM300064	
4. In case of further questions	103



1. IsoCAM3000 Basics

This manual aims to present how to use the different features of IsoCAM3000.

1.1 First installation of IsoCAM3000

Important remark: Before input of the software dongle in the computer's USB port, please, install the software first. If you have input the dongle before installing the software or if, for some reason, the dongle's drivers are not installed, read and follow the instructions in 1.3 USB drivers installation.

All steps of the first-time installation are shown below.









IsoCAM3000 creates a "IsoCAM3000" folder in "Program files" folder, also a short-cut on desktop:



USB drives are located in the IsoCAM3000 installation folder (by "default" "C:\Program Files\IsoCAM3000").

1.2 Upgrade of an existing IsoCAM3000 installation







All upgrade installations preserve current settings of IsoCAM3000.

The IsoCAM3000 uninstall procedure is the same as other software programs, "Control Panel"->"Add or Remove Programs" (Windows 2000/XP) or "Control Panel"->"Programs and Features" (Windows Vista/Win7/Win8/Win10).

1.3 Machine parameters' setup

Before starting to use IsoCAM3000, it is highly recommended to input the dimensions of the working area of your machine. This can be done from the "Machines" window:



The above parameters are important mainly for the procedure of manufacturing of double-layer PCBs.

2. CAM mode

When you start IsoCAM3000 it loads in CAM mode. In this mode you will be able to load and edit your CAM data in order to be ready for prototyping in CNC mode.



When in CAM mode you will be able to perform the following operations:

- Load one or more PCB designs
- Group more than one PCB in a single object
- Ungroup already grouped objects
- Clone (copy) objects or groups of objects
- Delete objects or groups of objects
- Select and deselect objects and groups
- Rotate selected objects or groups by an arbitrary angle
- Move selected objects or groups
- Visually check insulation tool paths
- Determine tools and regions for excessive copper rubout
- Select inner or outer tool diameter compensation for all cutting operations

2.1 Gerber/Drill Import

The current revisions of IsoCAM3000 utilizes a visual approach to the process of Gerber/Drill files import. It is based on GerberView technology of IsoCAM3000 (button 2000).

2.1.1 Window for Gerber/Drill files import

Shown below is the basic view of the Gerber/Drill file import window. Note the numbers in the red brackets. The meaning of each one is explained below.



	es (Isot APU000XE4 Demo (SAPIPUES))	HINGES (1) - Co 4	Layers:	
Name	Date/Tinie	Size Ext	Tap @ Battan Hech 552 555 C CONCLEAT	copper: 21.5 cm2 5.070" x 4.642"
1.			Top Bottom Mech Street Betton DEHOC3.HECH	
100400-1007	05-01-2009 11-64-36	49 80 807	Top Bottom Hech Street Street Street	
DEMOCILINECH	05-01-2009 11:36:02	1 KB PECH	Top Bottom Hech 🖌 🕅 👘 🖉 🖉 DEHOC3.SPT	
DEHOC3 SPR	05-01-2009 11:54:54	3 88 528	Top Bottom	
DEMOCLISPT	05-01-2009 11:54:54	10 KB SPT	Top Bottom Mech Store Stores DEMOCS.TOP	
DEMOCILIZA	05-01-2009 11:46:38	B KD TAP	(5)	(S-S-M-A-T)
DEHIOC3.TOP	05-01-2009 11:46:36	85 KB TOP	(3)	
A MARKER CONSIGNATION OF	A President and a statistic strategy of the	CONTRACTOR OF THE		
		(2)		and the second second
				(4)
			Hirror X Hirror Y Use Origin Center Enable Wizard	DEMOC3.BOT
			Statist	
			C 22 A REPORT OF A	
				(5)

- (1) Currently selected folder
- (2) List of current folder contents. It can be sorted out by any column in ascending or descending order (either numeric or alphabetical)
- (3) List of files selected for import to IsoCAM3000 and the layer assigned to them.
- (4) The graphics of currently selected Gerber/Drill file from the list (3)
- (5) "Gerber View" window of all selected Gerber/Drill files from the list (3)

The selection of Gerber/Drill files is very simple. Folders can be selected with this button entering the path manually in (1) and pressing the ENTER key. In the left part of the screen (2) you will find the contents (files and folders) of the selected folder. Folders inside the selected folder can be selected by double clicking on the folder name. Returning to the upper folder can be done by double clicking on this button and the left arrow button and the selected folder.

In field (1) (drop down) are listed the last 20 used paths. In many cases that makes the selection even easier.

Select C:\Progr	ram Files\IsoCAH3000x64 Demo\SAMPLE5\DEMOC3 🛛 😒 💠 😽									
V Name	▲ Date/Time		Size	Ext		Top				
 Э DEMOC3.BOT	05-01-2009 11:46	:36	49 KB	801	r	Π.				
DEMOC3.MECH	View file (internal viewer)	_				<u> </u>				
DEMOC3.SPB	View file (notenad)	- [3 КВ	SPE	5	2				
DEMOC3.SPT	Open (explorer)		10 KB	SPT	r	P				
DEMOC3.tap	Convert Gerber to Drill		8 KB	TAP	•					
DEMOC3.TOP	Laver	•	85 KB	TOF						

From the list of files (2) you can open files in different programs by right clicking on them.

The current window arrangement, such as columns size and position etc., will be saved, so the next time you open it they will be the same.

2.1.2 Gerber/Drill files import

To select a file simply click on it in the list (2). IsoCAM3000 analyzes the file content and if it is a valid Gerber/Drill file adds it to the "Layers" list (3).

The selected file has an initial status of "none" and will not be selected for import in IsoCAM3000.

At this point you can see a small image of the file content in the right (4) and decide what status to select for this file. All selections except "none" will import the file into IsoCAM3000.

The choices for Gerber files are "Top", "Bottom", "Mech" (means mechanical).

The choices for Drill files are "Top", "Bottom".

The Gerber file choices are the same for manufacturing solder paste stencils.

Files with status "none" will be removed from the list after the next file selection.

Note:

You can change the status/layer of selected files at any time.



IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

It is possible to import more than one drill/drill-slot files (up to 8) and up to 8 mechanical layers.

Note:

Only drill-slot files containing G85 command are good for this import Below is an example of the export of drill-slot files from Altium Designer CAD system.

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		
C Dia Foliat	and format to be used in	the MC Drill output files
pecity the units	and rollinal to be used in	ane No Dhi buput nes.
This controls the lecimal point.	Units (inches or milimeter Units Inches Milimeters	rs), and the number of digits before and after th Format 2.3 2.4 9.25
The number form has a 1 mil resolu- 24 has a 0.1 mil higher resolutions hould check this only need to be a there are holes	at should be set to suit th tion, resolution, and 2:5 has a you the PCB manufacturer chosen on a grid finer than 1 mil.	he requirements of your design. The 2.3 format 0.01 mill resolution. If you are using one of the supports that format. The 2.4 and 2.5 formats
.eading/Trailing	Zeroes	Coordinate Positions
Keep leading	g and trailing zeroes	Reference to absolute origin
Suppress Jea	ding zeroes	Reference to relative origin
Suppress tra	ling zeroes	
Ither		
C Ontinine ob	ange location commands	8
	enarate NC Drill files for n	dated & non-plated index
Generate se	lat command (G95)	
Generate se	NOL COMMINIAND (COD)	,
Generate se	151 0 101	
<u>G</u> enerate so <u>Use drilled so Generate B </u>	pard Edge <u>R</u> out Paths	
Generate S Generate B Rout Tool	oard Edge <u>R</u> out Paths Dia 200mil	
Generate S Generate B Generate B Rout Tool	oard Edge <u>R</u> out Paths Dia 200mil	

Important:

A router bit or drill bit designed for drill-slot operations will serve you better than traditional drill bits.

Here is an example of importing files:

We will select the first file from the list (2). This file is a valid Gerber file and appears in the list (3) and you can see the image of its content in (4).

Term Date Time Dat						4 Layers	~ 0	DEHIOC3	3000x64 Demo\SAMPLES	Select C:\Program Files\IsoC
• •	m2 Impor	copper: 21.5 c 5.070° x 4.64	а виносалот	nd 🗆 🕬 🗆 🕬	Guttom [])	19	Det	See	Date/Time	Viane
Effective Verture										in -
000000000000000000000000000000000000	C TIN	5					BOT	49 83	05-01-2009 11:66:36	E DEMOCLEOT
010000.3378 05 03.2000 13.445.1 13 08. 97 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 747 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3370 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 8 08. 707 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 10 00.7 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 10 00.7 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 10 00.7 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 10 00.7 01000.3070 05 03.2000 13.445.8 10 00.7 01000.3070 05	Cart I	50					HECH	1 KB	05-01-2009 11:36:02	DEMOCIJNECH
ID INDUCAJOP 05 61 - 2000 11.54:54 13 KB 577 ID INDUCAJOP 65 61 - 2000 11.46:36 18 KB TOP ID INDUCAJOP 65 61 - 2000 11.46:36 10 P ID INDUCAJOP 65 61 - 2000 11.46:36 10 P ID INDUCAJOP 65 61 - 2000 11.46:36 10 P ID INDUCAJOP 65 61 - 2000 11.46:36 10 P ID INDUCAJOP 10 P <							588	3 KB	05-01-2009 11:54:54	DEMOC3.5PB
DETINGLADE 05 43 - 2009 13.44-36 15 KB TOP DETINGLATOP 05 43 - 2009 13.44-36 15 KB TOP	70	C.C.A.					SPT	10 KB	05-01-2009 11:54:54	T DEMOCLISPT
	III Section	TEN A					TAP	8 KB	05-01-2009 11:46:38	DEPROC3.tap
Charles Ward Development Control Ward Development of the Second Develo							TOP	85 KB	05-01-2009 11:46:36	Пеносатор
	MOC3.807	D	Enable Wizard	Use Origin Center	X Hieror Y	Him				
			🖾 🖽 🗖 🕋	L ES 🔲 🖛	70% 🛩 (Q.				
CAD: Default: 🔍 Apply: 25 Polis: Defaulturp/ 🔍 5.070" x.4.642"		5.070" x 4.642"	v		Default.mpf	T Profie	Apply	3		CAD: Default

We will select "Bottom" as the status of this file.





It will appear in the "Gerber View" window (5) with the color for bottom layer.

Next file selection:



The selected file will be a "Top" layer:





Third file selection:



This file is a "Mech" (mechanical) layer file. It contains the internal cuttings and final cutout of the board.



The next selected file is recognized by IsoCAM3000 as a drill file. If it does not contain tool definitions, the symbol \P shows that at least one tool has no definition.





After selecting a "Top" layer for drilling, IsoCAM3000 shows the table of the tools used in this file (shown below). Here you may make changes such as the coordinate format to Integer/Decimal, units of measurement, and individual tool diameters (double click on each diameter box).

Out Office Propert (ppm) Procession Procession Comment 10 0.0580 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 20 0.0310 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 20 0.03240 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 10 0.04340 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 10 0.0340 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 10 0.0340 Drell But (00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 10 0.0498 0.00000) (40.0) - TLC0.01872005100 10 0.0000000	016 016	nglish (INCH) letric (MM)	Type ③ Absol 〇 Increm	ute mental	Dipts Integer: 2 Decimal: 4	2	2ero supression ② Leading Zero ③ Trailing Zero ④ None	Coordinates Hinner X Hinner Y	OK Auto deter
0 0.8160 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T1C.0.81872005160 0 0.8310 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T2C.0.3172005100 0 0.8340 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T2C.0.3172005100 0 0.8340 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T2C.0.3172005100 0 0.8340 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T4C.0.31872005100 0 0.8340 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T4C.0.31872005100 0 0.9760 Dref Har (0.0000) (44.0) - T4C.0.31872005100 0 0.9760 Dref Har (0.0000) (40.0) - T4C.0.11972005100 0 0.9760 Dref Har (0.0000) (40.0) - T4C.0.11972005100 0 0.9760 Dref Har (0.0000) (40.0) - T4C.0.11972075100 0 0.9770150100 Dref Har (0.00000) (40.	pol t	Nole: Tin 1	Туре	[rpm]	Plunge rate	Feed rate	Co	mment	1
2 0.0.10 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 2 0.0.304 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 3 0.0.304 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 5 0.3790 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 5 0.3790 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 6 0.3100 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.3172005100 0.0137000 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.11072005100 0.0137000 Umb Mu (CodD00) (C40.0) - TCC.0.11072005100 0.0137000100 Umb Mu (C30000) (C40.0) - TCC.0.11072005100 0.01370010100 Umb Mu (C30000) (C40.0) - TCC.0.110720010 0.01370010100 Umb Mu (C40000) (C40.0) - TCC.0.110720100 <td< td=""><td>1</td><td>0.0160</td><td>Drill bit</td><td>(60000)</td><td>(40.0)</td><td>-</td><td>T1C0.018F2005100</td><td>)</td><td></td></td<>	1	0.0160	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T1C0.018F2005100)	
0.0340 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - TC0.03470005100 0.03700 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - T460.0379005100 0.03700 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - T560.0797005100 0.03700 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - T560.0797005100 0.03700 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - T560.0797005100 0.037000 UmB kar. (00000) (04.0) - T560.079705100 0.0370700 UmB kar. (00000) UmB kar. (00000) - T560.079705100 0.0370700 UmB kar. (00000) UmB kar. (00000) - T560.07970000 0.0370700 UmB kar. (00000) UmB kar. (00000) - - T560.0797000000000000000000000000000000000	2	0.0310	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T2C0.031F2005100		
0.0290 Oral bat (00000) (40.0) - 14.0.03872005100 0.0290 Oral bat (60000) (40.0) - 150.0.27972005100 0.0290 Oral bat (60000) (40.0) - 150.0.27972005100 Colspan="4">Colspan="4"Colspan="4">Colspan="4"Colspa="4"Colspa="4"Colspan="4"Colspa="4"Colspan="4"Colspan="4"Colspa=	3	0.0340	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T3C0.034F2005100		
0.0290 Umilian (00000) (00.0) - TSCD.0999-0005100 0.0100 Umilian (00000) (40.0) - TSCD.0999-0005100 0.01000000 Umilian (000000) (40.0) - TSCD.10972005100 0.011000000 Umilian (000000) (40.0) - TSCD.11072005100 0.011000000 Umilian Umilian Umilian Umilian Umilian 0.011000000 Umilian Umilian Umilian Umilian	•	0.0380	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T4C0.038F2005100		
0 0.100 Until Mat (60000) (40.0) - TSCC.11072005500 000000000000000000000000000000000000	5	0.0790	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T5C0.079#2005100		
4 54- CC - 0.3 (7000.00 CC - 0	6	0.1100	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T6C0.110F2005100		
0014172025833 0014172029750	(C0. -00) -00) -00) -00) -00) -00) -00) -0	0.01#52005100 15001006083 05001000147 11.71007750 14.71009487 14.71009487 14.71009487 14.71009487 14.71009487 15.71024847 15.01001280 3337033083 11.71008147							
	001	172025833							

Unfortunately, Excellon format does not contain Integer/Decimal information; therefore, it is advisable to look at the info file generated from your CAD system. The best way to avoid errors in this matter is to generate an Excellon2 drill file, if your CAD system has this option.

If it is necessary, the tool definitions can be entered manually or from a tool definitions file. To import from such a file, click on the button.

Button Auto detect is designed to do an automatic recognition of the data format for Excellon drill files. In order to be used it needs at least one Gerber file to be selected in advance (Top, Bottom, Stencil Top or Stencil Bottom). This option analyses the coordinates of drill patterns and compares them with the coordinates of the Gerber's. This function allows you to automatically select all parameters of your drill file. It may not work in 1 of 1000 cases and will require a manual settings. In such a case you can study the "Excellon" format or contact us for help. In any case that there is suspicion about the file format, a careful examination (using high zoom) is recommended.

Important:

Parameter "Coordinates" ("Mirror X" and "Mirror Y") should be used ONLY if a mirror transformation of the drill coordinates is needed.

In all cases that the drill file(s) need manipulated we recommend the following sequence:

- Import your Gerber files completely (but without drill file(s))
- Start a new procedure "Import Gerber & drill"
- Import your drill file(s)



IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

- Now you can select your drill file(s) as a separate object
- Make all transformations needed and align your drill files to the Gerbers
- Finally use high zoom for precise alignment (you will be able to match to 0.0001")

Important:

Contemporary CAD products usually export the drill file in Excellon2 format and it contains all the tools definition information.

If for some reason the file format is not correct (like inch/metric, fractional digits, leading/trailing zeros suppression etc.) it will be very obvious. To correct the problem, use double click at file name and change the necessary settings.

In the example below all files selected are ready for import into IsoCAM3000.



Note:

IsoCAM3000 allows the operator to import more than one mechanical layer (up to 8 layers are allowed). This is shown on the screen below. Each layer is imported from a separate Gerber file.



After the import of more than one mechanical layer, IsoCAM3000 generates a single file that contains all imported information. This file is named "Mechanical.GM"



2.1.3 "Gerber View" window

Now you have all the needed files in the "Gerber View" window (5). Here you can zoom in for more detail and perform measurements, the same way, as in CAM mode.



To set the reference point for a measurement press the SPACE BAR or make a right click. Move your mouse pointer to the new point and read the difference (dX and dY) in the status bar.

In the video clip below, the "Gerber & Drill files import" is demonstrated: (2.1.3) <u>https://youtu.be/9BFilfKbBhs</u>

2.1.4 Profiles for automated Gerber & Excellon import

IsoCAM3000 has ability to create profiles for automated import to the generated from the PCB CAD systems Gerber & Excellon files for the layers.

The predefined profiles are shown in the list below. When the user select the desired PCB CAD profile and presses the button "Apply", IsoCAM3000 will select automatically the files corresponding to the PCB layers (according to the selected CAM profile).

On the picture below are shown the selected Gerber & Excellon files generated from Altium Designer:

🖸 Gerber & Drill Import					
Select C\Gerber-rs274x\PhACdrive_LCD	PCB\Project Outputs for	PCB_Ph v 💠	4	Layers:	
V Name	Date/Time	Size Ex		Top 🖌 Bottom 🗌 Hech 🗌 🖓 🖓 💭 🖓 👘 🚺 📑 PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GBL	tools: 5, holes: 78 2,999" x 0.827" Import
m .				Bottom Overlay BD PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GB0	
A Design Bule Check - PhACdrive LCD B1.drc	21-02-2013 11:34:54	79 KB	DRC	Bottom Solder BACdrive_LCD_R1.G85	
Design Rule Check - PhACdrive LCD R1.html	21-02-2013 11:34:54	747 KB H	THE	Top Bottom Vech Street Bottom PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GH1	AND A CONTRACT OF A
FhAcdrive LCD R1.apr	21-02-2013 10:51:58	3 KB	APR	Top Bottom Mech Street Street Heck	(4) 1
A PhACdrive LCD R1.DRL	21-02-2013 10:52:22	O KB	DRL	Top Overlay T0 PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GT0	
D PhACdrive_LCD_R1.DRR	21-02-2013 10:52:22	1 KB 0	DRR	Top Bottom Mech V Store Store & Show	
PhACdrive_LCD_R1.EXTREP	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB XT	REP	Top Solder TS PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GTS	
A PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GBL	21-02-2013 10:51:57	81 KB	GBL	🐼 Tap 🗌 Bolton 🦷 🚰 PhAColove_LCD_RLEAT	
FhACdrive_LCD_R1.GB0	21-02-2013 10:51:58	2 KB (GBO		
FhACdrive_LCD_R1.G8P	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB (GEP		
A PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GBS	21-02-2013 10:51:58	2 KB	GBS		
FhACdrive LCD R1.GKD	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB (GKO	Hirror X Hirror Y Use Origin Center Enable Wizard	PhACdrive_LCD_R1.TXT
FhACdrive_LCD_R1.GM1	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB (GH1	Q 151% V Q FR With m	
A PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GM13	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB GI	H13		
FhAcdrive_LCD_R1.GM15	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB GI	M15		
FhACdrive_LCD_R1.GPB	21-02-2013 10:51:58	1 KB (GPB		
FhACdrive_LCD_R1.GPT	21-02-2013 10:51:58	3 KB	GPT		
FhAcdrive_LCD_R1.GTL	21-02-2013 10:51:57	96 KB	GTL		
FhAcdrive_LCD_R1.GTO	21-02-2013 10:51:58	21 KB (GTO		
FhAcdrive_LCD_R1.GTP	21-02-2013 10:51:58	2 KB	GTP		
A PhACdrive_LCD_R1.GTS	21-02-2013 10:51:58	5 KB (GTS		
PhACdrive_LCD_R1LDP	21-02-2013 10:52:22	O KB	LDP		
A PhACdrive_LCD_R1.REP	21-02-2013 10:51:58	4 KB	REP		
PhACdrive_LCD_R1.RUL	21-02-2013 10:51:58	0 KB	RUL		
Ph/Cdrive_LCD_RLTXT	21-02-2013 10:52:22	0 168	TXT		
PhACdrive_LCD_R1-macro.APR_LIB	21-02-2013 10:51:58	0 KB PR	LIB		
Status Report.Txt	21-02-2013 10:52:22	O KB	DI		
CAD: Altium Designer		V Apply	*	Profie: Default.mpf	.530" x 1.250"
C:\Gerber-rs274x\PhACdrive_LCD_PCB\Project Outputs	for PCB_PhACdrive_LCL	21-02-2013 08:52:	22	1 KB X2.0081, V0.0000" dX2.0081, dV0.0000, d2.0081" dX51.0053, dV0.0000, d51.005	3 mm



The predefined profile "Default" is a universal profile, and will work for most of the PCB CAD outputs (Gerber & Excellon).

The button 📷 opens the "Gerber Import Profiles" window, allowing to the user to create/edit/delete the existing profiles.

Profiles	CAD Profile:	Altium Designer	RS-274-D Settings	Save
CSIEDA v5	Top:	.GTL	Units	× Delete
GCad	Bottom:	.GBL	③ English [INCH]	
Opuser OrCAD	Hechanical	.GM1	O Hetric [MM]	Close
roteus	Stencil Top:	.GTP	Digits	
	Stencil Bottom:	.GBP	Integer: 2 👻	
	Dvill;	TXT.	Decimal: 3 🗸	
	Silk Top:	.GTO	Type	
	Silk Bottom:	.GBO	Absolute	
	Mask Top:	.GTS	OIncremental	
	Mask Bottom:	.GBS		
	Info1:		Zero suppression	
	Info2:		Leading Zero	
	Info3:		O Trailing Zero	
	Info4:		Onone	

Each profile contains information (the file name extension, or part of the file name) about the names of the files generated from the specified PCB CAD system.

IsoCAM3000 may support more than one extension for the file name for every layer. Typical example is the profile "Default":

Profiles	CAD Profile:	Default	RS-274-D Settings	C Distance
Altium Designer		Weidun	linits	Save
efault	Top:	.GTL: Front.gtt: .top; _02.	01.01.000	X Delete
KiCad Opuser OrCAD Proteus	Bottom:	.GBL; Back.gbl; .bot; _29.4	C English [Inch]	Close
	Mechanical:	.GM1; Edge_Cuts.gbr; .Me	Queene fried	
	Stencil Top:	F_Paste.gtp; .GTP; .spt; _	Digits	
	Stencil Bottom:	8_Paste.gtp: .GBP: .spb: E	Integer: 2	
	Dvill:	UnPLdrt: PLdrt: .drt: .tap; .	Decimal: 3 🔽	
	Silk Top:	.GTO; F_SilkS.gto; Top Sil	Туре	
	Silk Bottom:	.GBO; B_SilkS.gbo; Bottor	Absolute	
	Mask Top:	F_Mask.gts; .GTS; Top So	OIncremental	
	Mask Bottom:	B_Mask.gbs; .GBS; Bottor		
	Info1:		Zero suppression	
	Info2:		Leading Zero	
	Info3:		O Trailing Zero	
	Info#:		None	

The different file extensions must be separated with ";".

In the example, in the "Top" layer will be selected Gerber file which name ends with some of the next strings:

"GTL" "Front.gtl" ".top" "_02.GBR" "top.gbr" "Top Copper.TXT" "Top Pattern.gbr"

The PCB CAD import profiles contains information about coordinates format of the RS-274-D gerber files (not used during import of the RS-274-X gerbers).

The easiest way to create profile for automated Gerber & Excellon import is the next:

- Select the Gerber & Excellon files for the layers (ready for import into IsoCAM3000)

- Press the button 🛣



Charles Alferber - 234-18640 free 100									
Select Courses and an anti-	_PCB\Project Outputs for	PCB_Ph ~ <	> 4	Layers:	tem El Mach E		Anna LCD R1 GR	tools: 5, holes: 78	Imps
Viene Comparing the comparing	Dote/Time 21-02-2013 11:34:54 21-02-2013 11:34:54 21-02-2013 10:51:58 21-02-2013 10:51:58 21-02-2013 10:52:22 21-02-2013 10:52:22	500 79 KB 747 KB 3 KB 0 KB 1 KB	DRC HTHL APR DRL DRR	Bottom Ove Bottom Sold Top Bot Top Bot Top Bot Top Overlay Top Solder	lay 00 PhACdrive r IS PhACdrive tom Mech 10 PhACdrive 10 15 PhACdrive 10	LO RLOTS	drive_LCD_R1.GH1 drive_LCD_R1.GTL drive_LCD_R1.GTP	2.999" x 0.422"	
Placowe_tto_kitxikap	Genher Import Profiler	IND	AIRPI	and the second second second	CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR	The state of the s			
PhACdrive_LCD_R1.G8L	Profiles			CAD Dudle		RS-274-D Settings	and the second second		
	Album Designer CSEDA v5 CSEDA v5 Default KCad Quueer OrCAD Proteus			CAD Profile: Top: Bottom: Hechanicat Stencil Top: Drift Silk Top: Silk Bottom: Hask Top: Hask Bottom:	GTL CBL GFP TXT GTO GBO GTS GBS	Usits Otopisk (INO) Otopisk (INO) Otopists Integer: 2 → Pyger Otopists Typer Otopists	Close	PACONE JA	0.8174 8
PhACdrive_LCD_R1LDP PhACdrive_LCD_R1REP				Info1: Info2: Info2:		© Leading Zero ○ Trailing Zero			
PhAcdrive_LCD_R1.RUL				Infort		ONone			2
PAACdrive_LCD_R1-macro.AFR_LIB Status Report Txt	141-34-4545 THOMAS			Pick & Place:			"	HOHOHO - S	
CAD: Altism Designer		~ Apply	rd	Profie: Default	mpf	2		3.530" × 1.250"	

Now IsoCAM3000 will fill the unique file names extensions (as is shown above) using the names of already selected files.

To save the profile, you have to enter the name for the profile and press the button "Save".

Video:

(2.1.4) https://youtu.be/1535xRx2Vdw



Gerber files in RS 274-D format are considered obsolete. All PCB CAD systems generate Gerber files in RS 274-X (called Extended Gerber). Despite this we offer the possibility to import RS 247-D for the users of older CAD systems. When such a file is selected an attention sign will be displayed in front of the file name to alert the operator that the file does not contain the description of the used apertures (Gerber RS 274-D):



During the file selection an additional window will appear for apertures to be entered. Due to the fact that there is no standard format for aperture descriptions in RS 274-D they must be entered manually

2.1.5.1 Manual aperture entry



To enter/change parameters you have to click on it. This will open fields for its aperture type and parameters.



After the apertures and their parameters are entered, it is recommended to save them in a *.APT file for future use (another layer or another project) using the button "Export Apertures".



Important:

If the apertures are presented in a text file, you may use the "View Apertures" button. This will open an additional window that will make the entry process more convenient.



2.1.5.2 Aperture definitions import in IsoCAM3000 (file *.APT)

You can import apertures definitions in IsoCAM3000 when you use a RS 274-D Gerber format. Once the aperture file is generated (or supplied) you can enter it using "Import Apertures"

Import Aperts	ures				=	-)
Look in:	🎉 274-D		¥ +	· 🗈 💣 📰		
Ca.	Name	^		Date mod	ified	1
Recent Places	STANDARD.	APT		05-Mar-1	7 10:43	1
Desktop						ľ
Libraries						
1						
Network						
	+	18				F.
	File game:	1		*	Open	
	Files of type:	Apertures (*.APT; *.A	PP)	*	Cancel	

Shown below is the format of *.APT file that you can enter in IsoCAM3000.

JINNUMAN					-
1 TORAL				what the anarture can be used for	1
	The	TO .		three norrible settings:	
1		LTN	r."	can only be used to draw lines	
		71.4	DH .	can only be used to flash pads	
		MIL.	t X	can be used for either	
		him		defaults to MULTI setting	
D11 CISCULAS	40	40	0		
D12 SQUARE	10	10	i o		
DIN CIRCULAR	10	10	0		
D14 CIRCULAR	12	12	0		
D15 CIRCULAR	15	15	0		
D16 SQUARE	20	20	0		
D17 CISCULAR	20	20	0		
D10 CIRCULAR	25	25	0		- 6
D19 CIRCULAR	20	30	0		
D20 SQUARE	50	50	0		
D21 CISCULAB	8.0	80	0		
D22 SQUARE	. 62	62	0		
D23 CIRCULAR	62	62	0		
D24 CIRCULAR	70	70	0		
D25 CIRCULAR	75	7.5	÷.		
D26 CIRCULAR	85	85	0		
D27 CIRCULAR	100	100	0		
D20 CIRCULAR	110	110	0		
DZ9 CIRCULAR	125	125	0		
D30 CIRCULAR	150	150	. 0		
D31 CISCULAR	200	200	0		
D32 CIRCULAR	2.50	250	0		
D33 CIRCULAR	40	40	10		

After the import of the apertures, it is highly recommended to review the graphics of the layer for missing or improperly entered apertures. After any changes in the apertures, IsoCAM3000 will redraw/display the changes in the layer.





2.1.5.3 Extra Settings

Gerber RS 274-D does not contain the information about the coordinates format, units of measurement etc. They usually are sent to board manufacturers by separate letter or telephone conversations. Here they can be entered in IsoCAM3000 by using the "Extra Settings" button



Entering wrong parameters in this window will definitely create a wrong interpretation of the Gerber file and will be visible in the graphic window. It is important to carefully check the image and its size and make sure that it is what you intended to have.

Shown below is the file after correct import:

🔄 Gerber & Drill Import				
Select C:\Gerber-rs274x\274-D			Layers:	tools: 4, holes: 390 Import
▼ Name	Date/Time	Size Ext	Top Bottom Hech Stop Stop 28265.684	3.810" × 7.600"
-				4
A 2REGS.DRL	25-08-2011 15:13:06	3 KB DRL	Top Bottom Mech Stig Storen Bottom 2regs.mech	
A 2REGS.GBL	25-08-2011 15:13:06	147 KB GBL		
2regs.mech	26-08-2011 17:36:30	0 KB MECH		
2REGS.SIL	25-08-2011 15:13:06	117 KB 58L		
2006S.TXT	25-08-2011 15:13:06	3 03 137		
& STANDARD.APT	05-03-2017 10:43:21	0 KB APT		
STANDARD.ETL	25-08-2011 15:13:06	1 KB ETL		
			Hirror X Hirror Y Use Origin Center Enable Wizard	3R(65.TXT
CAD: Altium Designer		Apply 3	Profie: Default.mpf 4	730" x 8.330"
C:\Gerber-rs274x\274-D\STANDARD.APT		06-10-2021 09:03:3	1 K8 X2.2871, Y2.4030" dX2.2871, dY2.4030, d3.3174" dX58.0923, dY61.0361, d84.262	2 mm

Important:

If the CAD system that you are using can export Gerber files in both RS 274-D and RS 274-X, you definitely have to use RS 274-X (Extended Gerber). This will save you time, efforts and reduce chances of errors.

2.1.6 Gerber files for Stencils Import

IsoCAM3000 can import Gerber data layers designed to machine stencils for solder paste placement. Stencil layers can be imported together with the files for board(s) prototyping (recommended when cloning and reorientation of the board in IsoCAM3000 is needed) or separately. This import is similar to

top and bottom Gerber files for boards. You may import top and bottom Stencil files ("Stencil bottom" is needed only for boards that are populated with components on both sides). "Stencil Top" and "Stencil Bottom" are virtual names, that reflect the stencil for board top side and the stencil for board bottom side, each made on separate work piece.

Shown below is a sample window with stencils import:



When stencil files are imported in the project, additional buttons will appear on the left side of CAM window shown below.

§ Stencil: 8.00 + 2.00 mil

The "Stencil" button allows you to select a tool and set the parameters for it. There are two types of tools that can be used in this operation. "V" tip tools (the same used mostly for insulation of the traces) and stub end mills. "V" tip tools will allow you to achieve corner radiuses on square pads close to 3 mils without paying the price for a 6 mils stub end mill. Stub end mills will make the openings in your stencil with completely vertical walls. Using "V" tip tools the actual tool diameter is the track on the bottom side of your work piece. This requires a precise depth setting. Stub end mills have lower requirements for this setting. Tapered walls of the stencils made using "V" tools may require a bit bigger "safety zone" (tool offset), an internal



compensation to the pad size (usually 2-5 mils). The operator will be able to set this too. All settings needed for the stencils tool appear with a click on the stencil button. To the right is the stencil tool window.

Where:

- 'd' is the tool track diameter calculated for the bottom side of your work piece.
- 't' is the tip diameter of your tool. In some cases, it is not published by distributor/manufacturer. Call the source and find this parameter. It is important to know it in order to have accurate depth limiter settings.
- 'f' is the internal compensation, technologically needed for the process of solder paste application. (usually 2-5 mils)
- 'm' is the thickness of your work piece.

Tool penetration depth is calculated automatically by IsoCAM3000 and shown in the tool change window.

When using a "Stub End Mill" the depth is only recommended (should be more than material thickness).





2.1.6.1 Stencil layer(s) visualization

If a project containing stencil layer(s) has been imported, additional buttons that control the visualization of all layers will appear.

PCD Stores Stores

The "PCB" button, shows all files except the stencils

The "Stencil Top" & "Stencil Bottom" shows Top & Bottom stencil images

Shown below "PCB" files only:



Below is an example of tool path dimensions and "safety zone" compensation





Important:

Due to significantly different properties of the materials used for stencils, there are separate settings for the machining in the "Setup" menu:

Setup				and the state of the		
-	Profile: Default.mpf		¥	Rapid Height [in]: 0.1500	v Default	t confi
M	PCB Route settings					
Display Settings	Route Depth [in]:	0.1000	¥	Spindle RPM (rpm):	60000	1
	Rapid Height [in]:	0.1500	~	Feed Rate [in/m]:	15.00	
	Peck Route #1=p ([n]: 0.0200		Plunge Rate [in/m]:	40.00	6
0				Tool Penetration Depth [in]:	0.0030	-6
G	PCB Rubout settings					
G-code	Rubout Depth [in]:	0.1000	¥	Spindle RPM [rpm]:	60000	8
	Rapid Height [in]:	0.1500	*	Feed Rate (in/m):	15.00	1
	Peck Rubout FRD	0.0200	54	Plunge Rate [in/m]:	40.00	6
Tree				Tool Penetration Depth [in]:	0.0030	
-	PC8 Drill settings					
PCB Route, Drill,	Drill Depth [in]:	0.1000	Y	Spindle RPM [rpm]:	60000	
lubout, Cut & Stencil	Rapid Height [in]:	0.1500	4	Plunge Rate [in/m]:	40.00	
	Peck drill stop (0.0200		Drill on Layer: Top Layer	er .	
0	Peck drill mode:	Safe Mode		Tool Penetration Depth [in]:	0.0800	
	G82 DWELL(M	ec]: none	*			
Accurate 636	PCB Cut settings					
	Cut Depth [n]:	0.1000	~	Spindle RPM [rpm]:	60000	-
	Rapid Height [in]:	0.1500	~	Feed Rate (in/m):	7.50	
121	Peck cut step (0.0200		Plunge Rate (in/m):	20.00	-
	100			Tool Penetration Depth [in]:	0.0800	
ystem Information	Stend settings					
	Stendi Cut Depth [n]:	0.1000	~	Spindle RPM (rpm):	60000	- 6
	Rapid Height [in]:	0.1500	-	Feed Rate (m/m):	7.50	
	Peck cut strp	0.0200		Plunge Rate [in/m]:	20.00	-
	Stend thickness finit:	0.0040		Tool Penetration Deoth Init:	0.0100	-

2.1.7 Convert Gerber to Drill

IsoCAM3000 allows drill files import in Excellon/Excellon2 formats. In rare cases it is possible that CAD system generates Gerber format (using round apertures for each hole). In order to be able to use these type of drill files we added the option Convert Gerber to Drill:

-	N 2010 2010 C				
nano_mech.gbr	04-12-2009 13:20:16 04-12-2009 13:36:26	41 88 0 83	GBR GBR	Top Bottom ✓ Hech Stitt* Stitt* Stitt* 22 Top Bottom Hech Stitt* Stitt* Stitt*	
nano_top.gbr	Yiew file (internal viewer) Vjew file (notepad) Open (explorer)	47.00	GBR	20	
C	Senvert Gerter to Drift Layer	-			

After execution of "Convert Gerber to Drill", you will find in the list of files a file with the same name as the Gerber file, but with an extention .DRILL. The new file then can be selected as a Drill file for the project.



Gerber & Unit Import				
Select C\Gerber-rs274x\nano			Layers	tools 5, holes: 118 Import
▼ Name	Date/Time	Size Dxt	Top Mottom Mech Stop Monton ano_bottom.gbr	0.370" × 1.370"
🗀 -			Top Bottom Mech Breek Bottom ano_mech.gbr	••
a nano_bottom.gbr	04-12-2009 13:20:16	41 KB G8R	Top Bottom Mech Strop and Strop	
A nano_mech.gbr	04-12-2009 13:36:26	0 KB GBR	🖉 Top 🔲 Nottom 🧃 🔛 nano_top.gbr.DRB1.	
a nano_top.gbr	04-12-2009 13:20:16	47 KB GBR		
🖬 nano_top.gbr.DRBL	06-10-2021 13:03:20			1 1 1 1 A 1
anno_top.gbr.DRILLSLOT	06-10-2021 13:03:20	64 KB LSLOT		
			Hirror X Hirror Y Use Origin Center Enable Wizard	nano_top.gbr.DR11L
			🔍 200% 🕑 🔍 🔛 🕒 🖛 🖼 🛲 📖 🗠	
CAD: Default		- Apply 📆	Profie: Default.mpf	0.780" x 1.780"
C:\Gerber-rs274x\nano\nano_top.gbr.DRILL		06-10-2021 10:03:20	3 K8 X1.3276, Y0.7266* dX1.3276, dY0.7266, d1.5134* dX33.7203, dY18.4564, d38.4	409 mm

IMPORTANT

In order "Convert Gerber to Drill" to function properly the folder should allow to write files. If a drill file already exist "Convert Gerber to Drill" option is disabled.

"Convert Gerber to Drill" option is also disabled if the file selected is not a Gerber file. Please make sure that you are using full screen video to be able to see all details.

Convert Gerber to Drill - video: (2.1.7) <u>https://youtu.be/29-tDWZ8ISE</u>

2.1.8 Info layers import

IsoCAM3000 now allows the import of additional informational Gerber files in addition to the files needed for machining such as: Top Silk, Bottom Silk, Top Mask, Bottom Mask, etc. The additional files are not used for machining but offer convenience when a "Gerber Export" and "Print" are used.



Layers for machining: "Top", "Bottom", "Drill", "Mechanical", "Stencil Top" (Top Paste), "Stencil Bottom" (Bottom Paste), also can be selected from popup menu.

After an import in IsoCAM3000, info layers can be shown/hidden the same way as the layers for machining.





2.1.9 Gerber editor

IsoCAM3000 has a function that allows the operator to remove certain Gerber components when they are considered not needed for the machining. Typical examples include text, dimensional lines etc., that are (in some cases) included in the Gerber file. In the example below a large text field need to be removed from the Gerber file.



Activate the button . Using the mouse select the area to be deleted. All Gerber primitives that are completely included in the selected area will disappear from the selected file in the Layers list. If must button is active, it will remove the Gerber components from all layers. It is a real time operation that allows the operator to see if the selection is right.



			A 4	Ton Retton Ditech Control Contes	copper: 29.2 cm2
P ane BOTTOH DRUL HECH 109	Date;/fine 03-09-2015 10:35:11 03-09-2015 10:35:11 03-09-2015 10:35:11 03-09-2015 10:35:11	See Ext 125 KB 2 KB 7 KB 201 KD		Top Detation The	Definit Incor Teor Precision
				Mirror X Mirror Y Disc Origin Center Enal	vie Wizard TOP
				70	August in reaction of the second seco
				A Disease in the second s	
CAD: Default		V Appl	Y -14	Profile: Default.mol	v 5.943" x 3.048"

Button (Undo), reverses the changes made. The editor allows up to 32 stages of Undo command. Button changes the function of the selected region. When activated the editor deletes all Gerber primitives outside the selected region. In some cases, this is the more convenient way to edit the files.

Below are links to videos that show details of the Gerber editor in IsoCAM3000. Please make sure that you are using full screen video in order to be able to see all details.

Gerber import example (editor) #1 (2.1.9.1) <u>https://youtu.be/3mD1id9C2hQ</u>

Gerber import example (editor) #2 (2.1.9.2) <u>https://youtu.be/9FPrjE1djTc</u>

Gerber import example (editor) #3 (2.1.9.3) <u>https://youtu.be/9ajfbw8shKM</u>

2.1.10 Single layer PCB import

When you import single sided PCB designs the Gerber file for the solder layer (normally bottom layer) comes from your cad system as if you are looking at the board from the top. Our system mirrors this when you declare it "bottom layer", but this creates unnecessary difficulties in placing the project on your work piece. This option makes the setup process more convenient when you are handling single sided projects.

Using the mirror option, you can import your Gerber and Drill files as a top and they will not be mirrored during the machining (CNC mode).

In the example shown below is the standard method of import



🔄 Gerber & Dr	il Import								a side at
Select	C:\Gerber-rs274x\Adapter	nr -			4 Layers:			tools: 4, holes: 95	Import
 Name 		Date/Time	Size	Ext	lop bottom	ecn [2959" [2600)	A Adaptorr - CALCAPI Bottom (⁰¹ 2.430" × 2.010"	
<u></u>					V Top 🗌 Bottom		Anaphere CADCAR DelLTX1		
ADAPTERY.	DRL	24-08-2007 22:48:08	1 KB	DRL					
Adaptory -	CADCAH Bottom Copper.TX	26-03-2007 10:31:48	8 KB	TXT					
AdaptorY -	CADCAM Bottom Copper.TX	11-11-2016 11:11:51	1 KB	DRILL					
AdaptorY -	CADCAM Bottom Copper.TX	11-11-2016 11:11:51	8 KB	LSLOT					- C - C - C
AdaptorY -	CADCAH DrilLTXT	26-03-2007 10:31:48	1.00						
AdaptorY -	CADCAH READ-HE.TXT	26-03-2007 10:31:48	1 KB	TXT					
								• • • • • •	
					Hirror X Hirror Y	Use Origin Center	Enable Wizard	AdaptorY - CAD	CAM DHILTHT
					Q 128% Y 0	X E3 🕶 🚥	3000 ALL 🔲 🗠		
							<u> </u>		
							00000		
					- I 🚅 🚺	~ ~			
					0 0	1 Q V g			
						~~~/ ) Ч	°		
						പല			
						ومالا يحمر	-> O		
						~~0  v]			
					i i i i				
							<u> </u>		
						• • •			
					P 9				
						1 (1)			
					· · · · · ·	o b-ó 🖵	000		
							······································		
					1		-		
CAD: Default			2	Apply 😨	Profie: Default.mpf		· .	.780" x 2.385"	
C\Gerberym224v	Adapter/VAdaptor/V - CADCA	AM Doll TYT	26.03	2007 07-31-44	48 2 KB 11 6877 V0.07361	401 6877 400 0736 41 689	01 dt(42.8675 dt/1.8706 d42.908	tmm	
211061061152748	ovarpter i ovarptori i CADCA	AND DOMESTICS.	20-03-	2007 07:31:40	+0 2.40 A1.0877, 10.0730	0/0.0677, 01010730, 01.065	G MALBO/S, 0118/00, 042308.	/	

It is easier to use the "Mirror X" option, and Import the files as top layers.



This way the imported files are all located as top layers, and the machining and setup are easier.

Loaded PCB projects will be placed at the center of the workspace.

If you would like to load more than one project, move the loaded project to the desired place (it is not a final position you may move it again and again).

If you need to make more than one copy of any board, use clone (copy) function instead of loading your files again.

Cloned objects have some advantages:

- Reducing calculation time for insulation and rubout calculations
- Saving memory space. Ten copies take as much memory as an original.

In the example below, four files have been loaded: Top, Bottom, Drill and Mechanical files.

All files loaded together in a single project are presented as a single object in order to manipulate them without generating undesired inconsistencies between the layers. You may clone, move, rotate etc. If you need to move any of the layers individually use the **Ungroup selected objects**, command described later in this manual.





# 2.2 IsoCAM3000 Project Files

IsoCAM3000 saves the projects in .PHJ files, where all the necessary information concerning the project is saved in a compressed format. Its file size is 4-5 times smaller than the volume of all files imported in the project. The extension .PHJ is registered in Windows Explorer so that if you want you can open .PHJ files directly from Windows Explorer. When opening projects with Windows Explorer the projects will be opened using the **Import** mode.

#### IsoCAM3000 supports two modes of loading .PHJ project files:

Button when pressed closes the current project (if it is not saved yet, you will receive a message asking if you want to save it) and opens the .PHJ file you select with all the tools for insulation, cut-out and rubout defined (including DPI resolution) in the .PHJ project that you open.

Button when pressed adds the .PHJ file you select to the current project, but the tools specified in the imported file will be ignored in favor of the tools specified by the current project.

For your convenience, the "File" menu lists recently opened .PHJ projects (up to 8 files). Upon exiting IsoCAM3000, you will be asked to save the current project (if it has been modified) and even if you answer "No" it will be saved to a special file called "Recent Project" available in the file menu automatically and can be opened from the file menu by clicking on "Recent Project". The last file opened with the latest changes will always be here just in case you accidentally close the file without saving.

# 2.3 Buttons and fields used in CAM mode

The Buttons & drop-down area state is for Zoom In/Out or to set the zoom percentage. If your monitor is set for the correct resolution, you will have the correct size image at 100% zoom. It is very convenient to use a mouse with a wheel for zoom In/Out. The zoom is always centered to the mouse pointer.

The button **Final terms** is a **Very important setting!** It is for the insulation tools, used in the calculation of the insulation tool paths. If you change insulation tools, IsoCAM3000 automatically recalculates and redraws all insulation tool paths.

#### Important:

IsoCAM3000 insulation tool path calculations, <u>do not allow intrusion into the traces and pads</u>, if your tool diameter is bigger than the space between traces and/or pads they will be left non-insulated.



# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

IsoCAM3000 detects and displays the problem areas (See 2.13 Design rules violation (DRV) detector). It is strongly recommended to view and check all critical zones of your design, using a high level of zoom!

Button *V* (described later in this manual).

Drop down store is to set cutout tool diameter (if any). If you change this value, IsoCAM3000 automatically recalculates and redraws all cutout tool paths.



is the panoramic window it shows all objects placed within the machine Window workspace. The Panoramic Window is a convenient way to view your entire project. You can left click inside this window, to view the desired portion of the workspace. This is convenient if you do not have a mouse wheel.



PIDLest - CADCA^A is the loaded files window it shows all the loaded files and the layer they are on. Window Clicking on the checkmark will turn it into a cross-mark, disabling and hiding the corresponding layer.

#### Note:

When you enable or disable layers in CAM mode you may use the CONTROL button on the keyboard. When it is hold down the enable/disable function apply to all layers with the same name. This offers convenience to handle the function when you have many copies of the same project on the screen.

#### Important:

Disabled layers are not manipulated by the CAM edit functions. For example, if you like to select a rubout area in one of the layers, you can disable (hide) the other ones. If you need to move a file from one layer to another, click on file name, hold and drag.



In the example above, the Mechanical layer is being moved from the Bottom to the Top Layer.

File type symbols:

- 🝰 Gerber file
- 😳 Drill file
- Insert Text"
- Image: Mechanical layer (Gerber)

4	
[Obj[1]: "PIDtest - CADCAM Top Cor total area [in2]: 8.491	
size [in]: 3.360 x 2.527 warnings: 0	
tool path: 66.27 in duration: ~5.18 min (F15.0 in/m)	
[Obj[2]: "PIDtest - CADCAM Bottom   total area [in2]: 8.659	

Window 🔚 is the statistical information window. Here, you can find the calculation for the time needed to complete the job based on the feed rate. For more detailed information, make a left click inside this window and then press F1.



### IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

This is the status bar it contains the following fields in the order listed below:

- The progress bar, which shows the progress of the current task
- The screen coordinates of the mouse pointer
- The real coordinates of the mouse pointer
- The relative coordinates of the mouse pointer to a specified origin and distance from that origin. Use the "space bar" on your keyboard to zero the relative coordinates at any point on the project. This feature can also be used to measure the distance between any two points.

Drop down sites for controlling the way objects are displayed on the screen and will give you the following choices:



The options drop down menu gives you the following options:

- Show spindle path this IsoCAM3000 option will show/hide spindle positioning lines generated in CNC mode. Active when you return from CNC mode. Useful for positioning objects on the desktop.
- "Show thumb tacks" this IsoCAM3000 option will show / hide thumbtacks and is discussed in detail in section 2.14
- "Design rules violation" this IsoCAM3000 option will activate/deactivate the DRV and is discussed in detail in section 2.13
- "Forced Insulation" this IsoCAM3000 option will activate/deactivate the forced insulation and Calculate tool paths used in "forced insulation". If the tool paths are never calculated the first activation will do so. If DRV function wasn't activated it will start it. This is discussed in detail in section 2.23
- "Full Rubout" this IsoCAM3000 option will activate/deactivate the full rubout and is discussed in detail section 2.15
- "Transparent Mode" this IsoCAM3000 option will give you a transparent top layer and the ability to see top and bottom layers at the same time. This option is useful for review/inspection of double-sided projects. Below is an example of the usage.





With "Transparent Mode" active it is recommended to turn off the tool path traces (•••) and enable Top & Bottom layers (•••).

#### Note:

This option has no effect if a single layer is enabled.



Drop down

is for visualization modes.

Buttons 📾 & 📾 are for a special visualization mode called "copper view". In this mode the screen shows what should be the final result after executing all machining programs. It uses close to real colors to show copper and typical base material. In CNC mode of IsoCAM3000 these buttons are inactive!

Buttons: 📾, 📾 & 🚧 are for review of top and bottom layers:

- image: top, bottom, drill & mechanical (natural layers order)
- 🜌 bottom, top, drill & mechanical (bottom layer on top)
- top, drill & mechanical (bottom layer hidden)



# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

bottom, drill & mechanical (top layer hidden)
 by default, so active.
 In CNC mode of IsoCAM3000 all these buttons are inactive!

Below are examples of "copper view":

Top layer (rubout region, cutout contour with tabs, drill and traces/pads insulation):



Bottom layer (insulation, drill and cutout and copper rubout):



All buttons above control the visualization of the project. They do not affect the settings or the machining process in CNC mode.

The following Quick access tool bar buttons are accessible on the tool bar:

Button is for enabling the panoramic view window Button is for the setup of IsoCAM3000 Button is to access the built-in calculator Button is to enter select objects mode (selected objects can be moved, cloned, rotated, grouped in a single object, ungrouped, and deleted) Button is to enter tool diameter compensation selection mode (used in the mechanical layer) Button is to enter rubout regions selection mode Button is to start the rubout regions tool paths calculation



Button site is to switch between CAM/CNC modes Button site is to enter the project tools list

# 2.4 Tools

In order to make the operation of IsoCAM3000 easier and to organize the tool settings we have tool tables. In the tool table you may enter all tools that are available for use. For each tool you may enter size (diameter [inch]), type, useful operations, Plunge Rate, Feed Rate, Speed [RPM]

To edit the main tool table click on "Tools" in the upper tool bar and select tool table from the drop down. The tool table will then open as a window as shown below:

1 То	ol Table							
	Diameter [in]	🔺 Туре	Operation	Speed [rpm]	Plunge rate [in/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Tool Tip [mil]	Comment
#1	0.015	Stub End Mill	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	•	SEM_15
#2	0.0197 (0.5mm)	Stub End Mill	Insulate & Rubout	\$\$000	30.0	12.5	-	
THOS	0.0313 (1/32")	Stub End Mill	Rubout	default	default	default	-	SEM_31
TH07	0.0625 (1/16")	Stub End Mill	Rubout	default	15.6	7.6	-	SEM_63
THOI	0.125 (1/8")	Stub End Mill	Rubout	default	default	default	-	5EM_125
THOS	0.0135	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_13.5
11109	0.0313 (1/32")	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_31
TH <b>0</b> 3	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	•	DRL_39
#9	0.047	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_47
#10	0.079	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_79
#11	0.1181 (3.0mm)	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_118
#12	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	DRL_125 #3
#13	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	50000	30.0	-	•	DRL_125 #2
#14	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	50000	40.0	-	-	DRL_125 #1
TH TI	undef	"V" 30°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0	V_30
#16	undef	<b>"V"</b> 45°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0	¥_45
#17	undef	"V" 60+	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	5.0	¥_60 Smil
#18	undef	"V" 60+	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0	V_60 4mil
TH04	undef	"V" 90°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.5	V_90
TH 12	0.0313 (1/32")	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	R_31
#21	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	R_39
#22	0.049	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	R_49
#23	0.050	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	R_50
#24	0.0984 (2.5mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	
#25	0.1181 (3.0mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	
	+ 444	Delete						
		ounte						

Buttons *****^{Add} & **•**^{Delete} are used to add or delete a selected tool by left clicking on it in the list. Selecting a tool in the list will also allow you to edit the tools parameters. The description of each parameter field is as follows:

- **Diameter** is the cutting diameter of the tool. You can select it from drop down list or enter it manually. Entries are in inches, if the entry is bigger than 1.0, it is accepted as mils. For example, if you enter 15 this will be 0.015"
- Type is the type of the tool. It is recommended to fill this field. It helps during the selection of tools for certain operations. The Possible types are "undefined", "Drill bit", "Router bit", "Stub End Mill", "V 25°", "V 30°", "V 45°", "V 60°", "V 90°", "V 100°" and "V 120°"
   For tools of type "V", the track size (diameter column) depends on the tool penetration into the

material. It is recommended to select "undef" (or enter 0.0)!

- **Operation** is to show the possible usage of the tool. The choices are "undefined", "Insulate", "Rubout", "Cut & Drill", "Drill", and "Cut". For example, if the type of tool is a "Router Bit", then the possible choice of Operation will be limited to: "Cut & Drill", "Drill" and "Cut"; The reason for this is a router bit can be used for drilling holes larger than its diameter.
- **Speed** is for setting the RPM of the spindle for this tool. If the choice is "default", the setting speed is selected from global parameters table for this operation (see 3.4 CNC process control settings). Possible settings are 5,000...60,000 and 5,000...100,000 RPM depend of the model.
- **Plunge Rate** is for setting the speed of Z axis toward the table, e.g. the speed that tool will penetrate the material. If selection is "default" the setting is from global table for selected operation (see 3.4 CNC process control settings). Possible values are 40...0.1 in/min.
- **Feed Rate** is for setting the tool movement speed in XY plane (in/min). If "default" is selected it takes the speed setting from global table (see 3.4 CNC process control settings). Possible settings are 15...0.1 in/min. This parameter has no meaning for "Drill bit" type.



# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

- **Comment** is a field for making notes, maximum length 256 characters.
- **Tool Life [in]**/# is a field that shows maximum tool usage acquired by the manufacturer specs or by own experience

In this column of the tool table (**Tool Life [in]**/#) you can enter a value that if exceeded will prompt you to change tool. It can contain the information below:

- total length of cut for this tool (for routers, end mils and V-tools)
- total number of material entries for this tool (for drill bits and routers)

It can be set for every tool (if needed) and will prompt the operator that the limit set is exceeded.

IsoCAM3000 records both (total number of material entries and total length of cutting) for routers and end mils. It records only the number of drill cycles for the drill tools.

Example:

V Too	ol Table									x
	Diameter [in]	🔺 Туре	Operation	Speed [rpm]	Plunge rate [in/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Tool Tip [mil	Tool Life [in]/#	Comment	-
TH 12	0.035	Drill bit	Drill	default	default		-	10000	DRL_39	
#13	0.047	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	•	15000	DRL_47	
#14	0.079	Drill bit	Drill	default	default		-	15000	DRL_79	
#15	0.1181 (3.0mm)	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	•	15000	DRL_118	
#16	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	•	15000	DRL_125 #1	
#17	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	default	default	-	-	15000	DRL_125 #2	
#18	0.125 (1/8")	Drill bit	Drill	default	default		•	15000	DRL_125 #3	
#19	undef	"Y" 30°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	3.5	2000 in	¥_30	
11116	undef	"V" 45°	Insulate & Rubout	45000	default	default	6.5	2000 in	¥_45	
#21	undef	<b>"V"</b> 45°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.5	2000 in		
#22	undef	<b>"V"</b> 45°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0	2000 in		
11102	undef 💌	"V" 60° 🛛 🗹	Insulate & Rubor ⊻	default 💌	default 💌	default 💌	50 💽	2000 in	_60	
#24	undef	<b>"Y" 90°</b>	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0		¥_90	
11101	undef	"Y" 90°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.5	500 in		
#26	0.0313 (1/32")	Router bit	Cut & Dvill	default	default	default	-	-	R_31	
TH 13	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	•	10000 in	R_39	
#28	0.049	Router bit	All	default	default	default	•	•	R_49	
11114	0.055	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	-	R_50	
#30	0.0984 (2.5mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	-		
#31	0.1181 (3.0mm)	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	•		
										-
-	+ Add -	Delete							Sele	ect

Shown above is the column in the tool table that handle the tool life (in red circle).

Clicking on the column for any tool (in green circle) will allow you to enter needed parameters in the window below. Holes/plunges represents number of entries in the material. Current tool usage is listed in the lower portion of this window.

Tool Life			
Max Life Cycles		-	OK.
Max Life Path [in]	2000 in	~	
Max # of holes/plunges:	6000	٣	Cancel
Current Life Cycles			
Current Life Path [in]	2427 in	۲	
Current # of holes/plunges:	1512	v	DAGAA 1001

#### Important:

You may sort out the table by clicking on the column title.

( "" shows which column is selected for sorting order ).

Second click on the column title changes the order of sorting (ascending to descending and back). In the left portion of the screen (IsoCAM3000 in CAM mode) you will find buttons for tools and tool tables for each operation.

🗑 Insulate: 7.30, 16.00, 18.00
¥ Cut: 10.00
¥ Stencik 8.00 + 2.00 mil
¥ rubout tools: 125.0, 62.5, 31.3, 15.6, 10.0, 7.3
drill tools: 24.0, 28.0, 31.0, 31.5, 35.4, 36.0, 40.0, 43.3, 51.0, 80.0, 118.0, 140.0

#### 2.4.1 "Insulate" Tools

IsoCAM3000 offers traces and pads insulation using up to 8 different tools. The selection and settings of the tools are performed in the "Insulation tools" window.

To select it click on To select it click on





In the left part of this window you will find the tools entered as tools for insulation. In the right part are the parameters of the currently selected tool.

During the insulation process, IsoCAM3000 is using only the selected tools ( $\square$ ).

There is a requirement for tools diameters. The minimum difference in the tools' diameters must be more than 1 mil (0.001 inch).

It is allowed to use a V tool with different penetration, thus achieving different tool diameters. In this case the tool will be listed as two different tools.

The number of tools that will be used depends only on the project structure and is determinate by the operator. Typical number is 2 or 3 tools. Very complicated designs may need 4 or even 5 tools. There are some samples below that are giving you a picture of different number of tools used in the same design. We create a possibility to use up to 8 tools, just to cover potential needs in the future. Limiting the number of tools has its own advantages, for example less tool changes.

IsoCAM3000 optimizes the usage of the small tools (usually far more expensive and with shorter life). This creates conditions to use them only in cases, that the larger tool is unable to do the insulation.

In "Forced Insulation" mode, IsoCAM3000 will always use the smallest tool available.

Additional options related to insulation process

#### • Design Rules Violation (DRV)

Activates DRV option that checks the project for regions that have spacing smaller than the smallest insulation tool. Normally these regions (or simply spots) will not be insulated. In most cases the problem can be resolved using the option "Forced insulation". Details about DRV option are described under "2.13 Design Rules Violation".

#### · Forced Insulation

This option allows the insulation of critical regions/spots with small compromise, that should be a matter of decision of the operator of the system. The option description is under "2.23 Forced Insulation".

#### · Remove Spikes (IPD)

"Remove Spikes" option (renamed from IPD) finds the spots that have extremely small copper edges that can be a source of future shorts on the ready board. This option eliminates them. Detailed info is under "2.24 Remove Spikes (IPD)"

The option "Insulation tools order - ascending (smallest to largest)", sets the order of tools usage. When not selected (default), the insulation process starts with the largest insulation tool and ends with the smallest, thus creating additional savings of the smallest tool life.

If the option is selected the process will go in opposite order (smallest to largest). This create kind of convenience when a V tool is used with different penetration levels.

If the selected tool is type "V" with "undef" diameter, the current diameter will remain the same (as shown 0.0080").

When you select an insulation tool from the main table, only tools that have "Insulate & Rubout" and "Insulate" in the "Operation" column will be present in the list.



	Diameter [in]	A Type	Operation	Speed (rpm)	Plunge rate [in/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Tool Tap (mil)	Tool Life	Comment
11103	0.010	Stub End Hill	All .	50000	35.0	7.5	1	3000 km	
1104	0.016	Stub End Hill	AB	default	default	default		3	SEH_15
11105	0.0313 (1/32")	Stub End Hill	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default		÷.	
1106	0.0625 (1/16")	Stub End Hill	All	default	default .	default	•	-	504_63
11107	0.125 (1/8")	Stub End Hill	All	default	default.	default	*		SEH_125
1100	0.0135	Drill bit	Deill	default	default		•	7500	DRI_13.5
1109	0.022	Drill bit	Deill	default	default			10000	DRL_21.65
11110	0.025	Drill bit	Deill	default	default		•	10000	
HT	0.0313 (1/32")	Drill bit	Deill	default	default	-		10000	DR1_31
H 42	0.035	Drill bit	Drill	default	default			10000	DRL_39
1116	undef	°V" 45°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.5	2000 km	V_45
1102	undef	~Y" 60°	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	5.5	2000 in	V_60
1115	undef	°V" 90"	Insulate & Rubout	default	default	default	4.0	-	V_90
11116	0.055	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	a.,		R_50

The information contains actual parameters (If "default" is selected you will see the value from the global table). These are the parameters that will be used for the program generation for this process.

If you place the mouse pointer on the tool button, you will see the information for the selected tool.



As we mentioned above a PCB design can be insulated with one two or more tools. Shown below is a single design machined with 1,2 and 3 tools

Single tool (7.7 mil V60):

tool path T0: 489.670 inch

Two tools (7.7mil V60, 10.0mil Stub End Mill):



tool path T0: 120.960 inch tool path T1: 388.900 inch

Three tools (7.7mil V60, 10mil & 16mil Stub End Mill):



tool path T0: 120.960 inch tool path T1: 184.330 inch tool path T2: 291.000 inch

#### Important:

The tool paths are calculated with maximum precision. Using more than one insulation tool will give you the same precision as with the smallest one but will significantly reduce the usage of the smaller tools when possible.

Tool paths calculation process can be stopped using the "Stop" button in the progress window shown below.




In case of interrupted tool paths calculations, they can be resumed by pressing "OK" button in "Insulation tools" window.



If there are no changes of the tools and settings resuming the process will just complete the calculations interrupted by using the "Stop" button. In case that any changes are made the tool paths calculation will start all over again.

In all cases entering the CNC mode will initiate all needed calculations if for some reason they are not completed in CAM mode: insulation, rubout, stencil, cutout, FI, IPD.

## 2.4.2 "Cut" Tool

To select the cutout tool left click on the ______ button.

The same window that was used for Insulation tool appears, but this time only shows tools with "Cut" and "Cut & Drill" in the "Operation" column.

To select a tool from main table click on the 🕹 🔤 button.

	Diameter [in]	• Туре	Operation	Speed [rpm]	Plunge rate [in/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Tool Tip [mil]	Tool Life [in]/#	Comment
пноз	0.010	Stub End Hill	All	50000	35.0	7.5	÷.	3000 in	
TH04	0.016	Stub End Hill	IIA	default	default	default	5	-	5EM_15
тнас	0.0625 (1/16")	Stub End Hill	All	default	default	default		-	SEM_63
1107	0.125 (1/8")	Stub End Hill	All	default	default	default	- 1	-	SEM_125
111 14	0.055	Router bit	Cut & Drill	default	default	default	-	0	R.50

If the selected tool uses default parameters its actual value is in brackets. For example if the RPM is set to default (60000) will be shown. This means that, according to current tool profile, the spindle speed will be 60,000 RPM because the global table RPM value was set to 60,000.

If you place the mouse pointer on the tool button, you will see the information for the selected tool in a popup window.



¥ Cut: 55.0	0
∦ Stencik 8.00 +	cutting tool:
y rubout tools: 12	10 0.0530 /1.59/mm Kouter bit 300000 PK7.5 PK20.0 K_30 (2-0.0800 /-2.052mm, TPL4)

The information contains the actual parameters. If the selected tool uses default parameters, its actual value is in brackets. For example, if the RPM is set to default (60000) will be shown. This means that, according to current tool profile, the spindle speed will be 60,000 RPM because the global table RPM value was set to 60,000. These are the parameters that will be used for the program generation for this process.

## 2.4.3 "Rubout" Tools

IsoCAM3000 now allows usage of up to 8 additional tools for the "copper rubout" process in addition to 8 tools available in "insulation" process. This way the maximum number of tools used in rubout process can go up to 16 (8 insulation tools and 8 rubout dedicated tools). Copper rubout process is actually an extension to the process of insulation and can be considered or rejected depend on the final goals of the design. We consider the total number of tools quite excessive but like to have it in order to meet the requirements in technology that may come up in the future. This will allow us to meet more complicated needs without making structural changes in the program. Currently a medium complicated project needs total of 4 to 5 tools to execute the processes of Insulation and Copper rubout. To select the Rubout tools table click on the **Future Rubout** tools table click on the **Future Rubout**.



**Important:** In the table above, you have to enter the desired copper rubout tools. IsoCAM3000 software will use all insulation tools declared as the smallest rubout tools. If the rubout tools table contain any tool smaller than largest insulation tool it will not be used in the process. In the rubout tools button **V STATURE 125** you can see the list of the tools that will be used in the process. The requirement for the tool diameters is the same as for Insulation tools. The difference in diameters must be larger than 1 mil. Only tools with check mark will be included in the process.

The process has 3 options for the rubout direction

- X serpentine
- Y serpentine
- Conical

They determine the moving direction of the tool when large copper areas are processed.

IsoCAM3000 offers 2 types of copper rubout:

• Full rubout

A standard (and recommended) process, that removes all excessive copper in the entire project or in the selected area of it.

Insulation rubout

This process removes the copper using a preset distance (when available) from the pads and traces. This option saves machining time and tools life, but in many applications may create conditions for the circuits to behave differently from the original design. Commonly not recommended for any circuits using 100 KHz and up signals. In "Auto" mode it clears the copper to the size of the larger rubout tool (when possible).



Rubout process starts with the smallest tool in ascending diameter order. This process is usually next after Insulation and this order saves one tool change.

The information contains the actual parameters. If the selected tool uses default parameters, its actual value is in brackets. For example, if the RPM is set to default (60000) will be shown. This means that, according to current tool profile, the spindle speed will be 60,000 RPM because the global table RPM value was set to 60,000.

#### Important:

When Full rubout is selected, it is not needed to select the option Remove spikes. Full rubout covers Remove spikes process. If you change your mind after performing Remove spikes this will not create any problem. Simply the time used for the Remove spikes will be a wasted time.

#### Examples:

Below you can see the patterns of tool paths in different modes.

#### X-Serpentine:





### **Y-Serpentine:**



**Conical:** 



#### Notes:

"X-Serpentine" and "Y-Serpentine" are recommended for usage in PCB projects that contain significant surface of copper to be removed.

"Conical" is more efficient for designs that have "poured copper" or when "Insulation rubout" has been used.

The options below **"Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer"** Allows to use the area defined by the "mechanical layer" as a "copper rubout" area. Very convenient option for boards with more complicated mechanical shapes and internal cuts.

When "Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer" is not checked, the rubout area is rectangular:





When "Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer" is checked, the mechanical layer is used like rubout region:



The option "Exclude the defined rubout regions" has meaning, only when "Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer" is checked.

For example, when "Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer" is checked and "Exclude the defined rubout regions" is not checked:





Example, when "Limit the rubout area to the mechanical layer" is checked and "Exclude the defined rubout regions" is checked:



### "Fish-tail SEM optimizations" menu option

IsoCAM3000 always is trying to use the largest possible tool for insulation & rubout programs, but in case of using Fish-tail Stub End Mills (SEM, shown below) because of its geometry this can create some problems.









In this case, IsoCAM3000 will use 15.6 mil SEM (largest possible tool) to do the job:



Because of fish-tail geometry - in the center of the very small regions is possible the copper to stay (Fish-tail tool needs movement of at least one R to work like standard SEM).

To avoid such problems, IsoCAM3000 will use smaller tool for the problem regions:



The the "Fish-tail SEM optimizations" option is enabled by default.

# 2.4.4 "Drill" Tool Table

To select the Drill tools table left click on

🕷 Dr	ill Tool Tabl	9												
	hole [in]	Diameter [in]	Туре	Speed [rpm]	Plunge rate [in/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Comment							
#1	0.020	0.0197 (0.5mm)	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-								
TH09	0.028	0.0313 (1/32") 💌	Drill bit 🛛 🗹	default 💌	default 💌	default 🖂	DRL_31							
TH 12	0.036	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
TH 12	0.040	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
TH 12	0.043	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
11112	0.047	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
TH 12	0.051	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
1H12	0.055	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
11112	0.060	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
11112	0.142	0.0313 (1/32")	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	R_31							
defaul	t router: TO O	.0313"/0.795mm Rou	ter bit \$60000	FR7.5 PR20.0	R_31									
1	Apply defa router too	ult Select router	t default r tool	🐉 Reset dr	ill table	Apply default         Select default         Reset drill table         Select ATC         Select           Y router tool         Y router tool         Y Select         Select								

The column "hole [in]" can NOT be edited; it contains the hole sizes from your CAD system (usually Excellon2 format file).

You must select a tool for each hole size. In some cases, the operator may select to drill the hole using router bit. To use this option, you have to enter a router bit with diameter smaller than the hole. The example above shows what happens if you select a drill bit larger than the hole. The 2nd tool in the tool has a slightly larger size drill bit then its hole and will be shown in Red. (If selected from the main tool table a prompt message will appear). The rest of the holes in the tool table, from 0.036" to 0.142" will use a Router bit with a diameter of 0.0313".

If some of selected tools use default parameters its actual value is in brackets (60000) this means that, according to current tool profiles, the spindle speed will be 60,000 RPM.

The new drill table contains a few new buttons related to usage of router tool for drilling of larger holes. If your project has a small number of larger holes, it is more efficient to drill them using router tool, thus saving tool expenses and tool changes during drill operations.

Button **Button** selects the router tool that will be used to "drill" large holes.

Button selected router. If a router tool is not selected this button is inactive.

Button **Freeton** resets all tool selections.



#### Important:

All tool tables and selections will be saved in the project files (.PHJ).

When you use "Open" to load an existing project you do not need to select your tools again.

When you use "Import" to add a project to one already loaded it will keep current settings and tool tables and ignore those of the imported project!

Rubout tool table is global, e.g., you do not need to create it if you start a new project or import an existing project.

Drill tools table usually is specific for each project. Therefore, you have to select your tools and fill out the drill tools table for every new or imported project.



If you place the mouse pointer on the drill tools button, you will see the information for the selected tools listed.

#### Note:

Right click on the "drill tools" button will provide you a popup menu that allows you to change the drill layer. All drilling programs will move to the selected layer.



## 2.4.5 "Stencil" Tool (Pro version only)

"Stencil" button allows you to select a tool and set the parameters for it. For more details see 2.4.1.

### 2.4.6 Project Tools

The window "Project Tools" contains a list with all used tools in the project (for all operations). In the example below (when insulation tool is selected), the button react opens a window that contains a list of tools, consisting of default "insulation" and "cut-out" tools and all specific tools involved in your project. The list contains information for each tool. Here is what information is included:

- Type of operation and sequence number in it (T0 ... Tn)
- Tool type description (Router Bit, Stub End Mill, Drill Bit, etc...)
- Penetration depth into the material

Project Tools			×
Project tools: 9 in AT	C tool holders, 0 in undefined location	Depth [mi]:	U Insulate Tool
TH04 Insulate 10	"Y" 90" Tip (0.0045"/0.114mm) (Insulate,Rubout,Stenci) Y_90	(2.0) mil 💌	- 26/00
TH12 Cut TO	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm (Drill,Cut,Stencil) R_31	(80.0) mil	
THOD Rubout T1	Stub End Mill 0.0313"/0.795mm (Rubout,Stencil) SEM_31	(3.0) mil	
TH07 Rubout T2	Stub End Mill 0.0625"/1.507mm {Rubout,Stencil} SEM_63	(3.0) mil	
IH01 Rubout T3	Stub End Mill 0.1250"/3.175mm {Rubout,Stencil} SEM_125	(3.0) mil	
1H09 Drill T1	Drill bit 0.0135"/0.343mm {Drill} DRL_13.5	(80.0) mil	
TH12 Drill T2	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm (Drill,Cut,Stencil) R_31	(80.0) mil	
TH 12 Drill T3	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm {Drill,Cut,Stencil} R 31	(80.0) mil	
TH 12 Drill T4	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm (Drill,Cut,Stencil) R_31	(80.0) mil	Auto tool depth

If "Auto tool depth update" check box is checked, changing the penetration depth of a tool will change the penetration of all tools in this operation. As an example, if you change the penetration of one tool in the "copper rubout" operation, the change will spread to the rest of the tools involved in this operation. If you like to have individual tool penetration depth for each tool this option should not be checked.

Here the operator will be able to make changes in the selected tool penetration depth (if needed). When the penetration depth values are in brackets, they are default values for this operation or tool. "V" types of tools have as default penetration the one calculated in the "insulation tool" window.

Tool penetration values are entered as positive values to cut into the material. A negative value will not cut the material and will display a warning message before you start this is handy for test runs. A value of Zero "0" will recall the default value for this operation or tool. For changes of tool type, you may use





the button "Xxxx Tool Setup" (where Xxxx is the type of operation). For example, you will be able to change your "V" insulation tool with a small stub end mill.

Some examples of tool selection:

#### "Insulation Tools"

To change/select the insulation tool click on "Insulate Tools Setup":



If you have (or already arrange) the necessary tool in the machine magazine simply click on "Select Tool ATC", it will show you only the tools that are currently in your machine magazine. Using similar technique you can make your selection for the tools for other operations.

#### "Cut Tool"



#### "Rubout Tools"



#### "Drill Tools"

	hole [in]	Diameter [in]	Туре	Speed [rpm]	Plunge rate [ai/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Comment
#1	0.0200	0.020	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T1F00500C0.02000
#2	0.0250	0.025	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T2F00500C0.02500
#3	0.0280	0.0280	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	÷	T3F00500C0.02800
#4	0.0300	0.030	Deill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T4F00500C0.03000
#5	0.0310	0.031	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T5F00500C0.03100
	0.0315	0.0315 (0.8mm)	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	÷	T6F00500C0.03150
#7	0.0354	0.0354	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		17/00500C0.03543
	0.0360	0.0360	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T8F00500C0.03600
#9	0.0433	0.0433	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	+	T9F00500C0.04331
#10	0.0510	0.0510	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	*	T10F00500C0.05100
#11	0.0800	0.060	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	-	T11F00500C0.08000
#12	0.1180	0.1180	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T12F00500C0.11800
#13	0.1400	0.1400	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T13F00500C0.14000
defai route	d-1 -	it defined		Trable Har	king Drill ol 0.0118"/0.30 V_90	10mm V90 S	10000 Harking Dri
	Apply de	fault i Sele	ct default		¥	Present darill to	atte Talua

#### Note:



The "Project Tools" table actually duplicates the function of buttons "Insulate", "Cut", "Drill tools", "Rubout tools". It is simply more convenient to have all needed information in a single window when you have to edit it.

#### **IMPORTANT (ATC models only):**

Button Wrodett will appear with red text if any tool(s) involved in your current project are not found in the machine magazine. The number in brackets shows how many tools are not in the machine magazine. These tool(s) are marked with a hand with pointing finger when you open the project tools list.

Project Tools			×			
Project tools: 9 in AT	Project tools: 9 in ATC tool holders, 0 in undefined location					
👉 🖗 Insulate 10	"Y" 60* Tip{0.0050"/0.127mm} {Insulate,Rubout,Stencil} Y_60 \$mt	5.0 mil 🛛 🕑	- Secup			
11112 Cut 10	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm {Drill,Cut,Stencil} R_31 L	(80.0) mil				
THOB Rubout T1	Stub End Mill 0.0313"/0.795mm {Rubout,Stencil} SEM_31	(3.0) mil				
TH07 Rubout T2	Stub End Mill 0.0625"/1.587mm {Rubout,Stencil} SEM_63	(3.0) mil				
TH01 Rubout T3	Stub End Mill 0.1250"/3.175mm (Rubout,Stencil) SEM_125	(3.0) mil				
THOS Drill T1	Drill bit 0.0135"/0.343mm {Drill} DRL_13.5	(80.0) mil				
THOS Drill T2	Drill bit 0.0135"/0.343mm {Drill} DRL_13.5	(80.0) mil				
TH 12 Drill T3	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm (Drill,Cut,Stencil) R_31	(80.0) mil				
TH 12 Deill T4	Router bit 0.0313"/0.795mm {Drill,Cut,Stencil} R_31	(80.0) mil	Auto tool depth update			

During the execution of the operations the IsoCAM3000 software will offer manual tool change for the tools that are not in the machine magazine. After the machining with this tool ends the control software will ask for manual removal of the tool.

## 2.5 Object selection mode

Button 🔊 is used to enter object selection mode or left click and select "Select/Clone/Move objects" from the pop-up menu.

During the active Object selection mode, the cursor has the shape shown below.  $+_{\underbrace{\oplus}}$ 

Selected objects can be moved, cloned, rotated, grouped in a single object, ungrouped, and deleted. To select an object, click on it or click & hold and move the mouse to draw a rectangle that includes all the desired objects. Selected objects can be manipulated using the functions described below. To deselect selected objects, click away from them inside the main window, click on "Clear selection" from the pop-up menu, or hit the (Esc) key.

#### Important:

During the object selection some objects may be covered by other objects, thus the object on top will be selected instead of the one targeted for selection. In this case use "Send to bottom" (Ctrl+B) function from popup menu. Selected objects will move "under" the targeted object and it can now be selected.

#### Note:

"Send to bottom" function has nothing to do with "Send object to Bottom Layer". "Send to bottom" only changes the drawing order on the screen to improve selection process of objects that overlap each other.





# 2.6 Move Objects

IsoCAM3000 in CAM mode has several ways to move objects:

- click and drag using mouse
- "Rotate & Move Selected Objects ..." function from popup menu
- "Move To ..." function from popup menu

In all cases the operator must select the object(s) first. To select an object(s), click on 🕅 (Object selection mode). Now you can make a left click within the desired object(s) to select it (them). Left click outside an object will clear selection (unselect). For more information see 2.5 Object selection mode.

## 2.6.1 Moving objects using the mouse

In CAM and CNC mode of IsoCAM3000, you can push and hold the left mouse button. Mouse movements now will scroll the screen (convenient option, especially when you have high zoom).

In CAM mode left clicking and holding the left mouse button on a selected object(s) will move the object(s) together with the mouse cursor (known as click and drag).

When more precision is needed you can increase the zoom and repeat the operation without the need to unselect the object(s).

On the screen below an object is selected (note the frame around it). Left click and hold inside the frame will move the object to a new position when you move the mouse and release the left mouse button.





After moving the mouse to a new position and releasing the left mouse button:

Ele CAM Setup Tooh Calc	Language Q. 46% - Q. Di vel B. N. Di .4. B. Mark. 4% Excert & Project	Outpurs
¥ Insolate: 8.00		
¥ Cut: 39.37		
¥ Stencik 8.00 + 4.00 mil		
¥ rubout tools: 125.0, 62.5, 31.3, 15.6, 8.0		
drill tools: 20.0, 32.0, 36.0, ¥ 39.0, 44.0, 55.0, 67.0, 103.0, 126.0, 138.0		
The Stat State		
Top Layer		
1568R3.TXT		
Bottom Layer		
1568R3.GH1		
[Obj[1]: '1568R3.GM1] total area [n2]: 8.959 size [n]: 3.328 x 2.492 tool path: 11.80 n durator: ~1.91 min (P.5 in)n]		
(0b)(2): *1568R.3.GTL"] total area [n2]: 11.047 size [n]: 3.616 x 3.053		
	14.3853, 13.7640 0x-3.0873, dy0.9016, d3.2163 [In] Default.mpf IsoCAM3000.64 Prov.5.71.5.17995464	

During the object(s) movement, object(s) are continuously redrawn, this may create some screen flicker in computers with slower graphics or when the object is more complicated.

For extra precision positioning we recommend selecting the mode that shows Gerber vectors. In this mode the centers of every flash aperture and start/end points of each vector in your Gerber file

are clearly marked. In addition, all traces and pads are "transparent".

Using this option will allow you (in high zoom: 20000%) to match two layers at the level of resolution of 1um (0.04mil).





### 2.6.2 Move using "Rotate & Move Selected Objects ..."

This is the best mode when you need to move an object(s) to a predetermined distance. Described in paragraph 2.8.

### 2.6.3 Move using "Move To ..."

In this mode you can move an object(s) from its current coordinates to new coordinates a specific distance in relation to a specific point on the object(s) utilizing full accuracy. First (the object must be selected) go to the desired position, in this case the exact center of a hole. Make a right click (the popup menu will appear). Select "Move To ...".



Selecting "Move To ..." the "Move To..." window will appear:



"From" contains (for reference only, not editable) the coordinates of your right click.

You should enter the new coordinates for the selected point in "To" and left click on the "Move" button. In this example the center of this hole will be at X = 0.7000, Y = 2.3500.



# 2.7 Clone (Copy) objects

- Select an object or group of objects
- Select "Clone Selected objects" from popup menu

Cloned object(s) appear selected and shifted on the x and y axis at + or -0.5 depending on the location of the original. The original is deselected automatically. Newly cloned object(s) can be moved to any position, rotated, or cloned again.

To move a cloned object, click, hold, and drag the object.

### Note:

See also the Panelization (2.29 Panelization)!



	R: gelect //Cone/Move objects Seject Al Gear selection Characteristic dispects Set Object to Bottom Bend Object to Bottom Evend Object to Bottom Evend Object to Bottom Evend Object to Bottom Evend Object to Bottom Delpto at Audout region Delpto at Audout regions	A
<b>0 0</b> ∿ 0 0-0	X Delete Selected Objects D	)el
	Clone Selected objects Ctrl	+C
	€ zoom + ⊖ zoo <u>m</u> - <u>P</u> anorame	
	Mechanical	,
	Move To otate & Move Selected Objects	
	Registration pins & Thumbtacks	,

# 2.8 Rotate objects

Select an object and click on "Rotate & Move Selected objects" from popup menu:



Rotate Selection Window will appear:

You may set any angle and distance.

Using the direction buttons, you will be able to move and rotate the object.

For example, the object below has been rotated at 7.5° CW





### Five copies of a board rotated at different angles:



Example 3: Five projects imported and arranged (some are rotated):



# 2.9 Group/ungroup objects

Select more than one object, click on "Group selected objects" from popup menu:

Group selected objects

All grouped objects behave as a single object and they maintain their relative position during further manipulations.





To ungroup, select the desired objects and then click on "Ungroup selected objects" from the pop-up menu. It is not necessary to create group in order to rotate, move or delete. Just select all objects that should be affected.

For example, all below were rotated at a 30 DEG angle CCW.



# 2.10 Delete objects

To delete objects, select them, and then click on "Delete Selected objects" from the popup menu.

## 2.11 Rubout - excessive copper removal

Button is used to remove any unnecessary copper that is not defined in the gerber files from selected regions of the board. To create the regions that will be removed you have to click on the rubout button. Now, you are in the rubout definition mode. Use click & hold and move to create a rectangular region. If your object is rotated, the rectangle created will be rotated too. The number of regions is unlimited. If you have cloned objects, the region specified on one object will apply to all clones. During the active rubout region selection mode, the cursor has the shape shown below.

Example of rubout region creation (short dash line):





A created rubout region will apply to all visible (enabled) layers, in this example Top & Bottom. If you need to create different regions in top and bottom layers, hide (disable) one and create the region in the other, then swap them and create the regions in the other.

Button **Button** allows you to set the right sizes for your rubout tools.

Re	bout	tools	_			-						
Rubou	t tools	12				Penetration Depth (mil):	Dameter (d) [n]:	0.0156		¥	Select Tool	QK
21	¥	18:	45.6 mil	Stab End Hill C.O.	156"/0.196mm 840.0	3.0 mil	Type:	Stub End Hill		v		
	¥	T1:	31.3 mil	Stub End Hill 0.03 S60000 FR15.0 Pt	313°/0.795mm	3.0 mil	Feed rate [m/m]:	(15.0)	2			
	8	12:	62.5 mil	Stub End Hill 0.06	525"/1.588mm	3.0 mil	Plunge rate (m/m):	(40.0)	2			
2	¥	T3:	125.0 mil	Stub End Hill 0.12	250"/3.175mm	3.0 mil	Speed [k/M]:	(60000)	4			
		Th	ha f. f.	Stab End Hill 0.03	113*/0.795mm	3.6 ml	Penetration Depth [mi]:	3.0	~			
	¥	150	31.3 ml	Stub Fod Mill 0.02	113"/0,795mm	3.0 mil	Peck step [mi]:	(sone)	v			
	¥	1.61	12.5 ml	Stub Ind Hill 0.04	525*/1.584mm	3.0 ml	tool tip (t) [mi]:	8.0				
	¥	12	12.3 mil	Stub Ind Hill 0.00 560000 PR15.0 P	125"/1.588mm 848.0	3.0 ml		Cutting dep	xh Z = 3	5,0 mi		
		R	about type:	Full Rubout	2	000						2: 3.0 ml
	300		hubble with	Ini: Auto				+			-	
	Ru	bout d	rection: Cor	nical 💌	Tool overlaps N	edium 🕑			er 25/			
	() () () () () ()	nit the Dod sitive P	rubout area 5 ude the defini Rubout Region	o the mechanical laye ed rubout regions ns (mported)								

The first and the smallest tool in the rubout process will always be the insulation tool. The rest depends on your design and you can create any combination you want. Enter 0.0 for the positions that will not be used (or press "Delete"). Enter the right sizes for the tools you will use. Rubout will sort them by size and will start with the smallest. If you change a tool in this table recalculation of rubout region(s) is needed.

#### Important:

Tool sizes entered in the rubout table must be accurate! The overlap between the tools is approx. 0.001 inch.

In the example below 5 regions are created:





To calculate regions, click on the state button. First click will calculate the "Rubout regions" and all consequence clicks will toggle between hide/show them on the screen (v1.17.5+)

Here is how they look after calculation:



Here is the example above spread to all copies:





If for any reason you do not calculate the regions before entering CNC mode, IsoCAM3000 will calculate them automatically!

If you would like to delete some of the rubout regions, place the mouse pointer on the region and click on "Delete rubout region" from the popup menu. When you delete a region from a cloned object, all copies will be affected.



If you would like to delete all rubout regions click on "Delete All rubout regions" from the popup menu.

# 2.12 Editor for the mechanical layer

### 2.12.1 Contour cutting selections

If you have loaded a mechanical layer for contour cutting, IsoCAM3000 automatically selects outside tool diameter compensation for the most outside contour and inside compensation for the contours inside (if any). If for some reason you need to change the automatic selection or disable some contours you have to click on the 📾 button.

The example below shows active (contour cutting selection) 
mode:





Selected contours are in light brown and the possible, but not selected, opposite compensation contours are in light gray. You may change the selection with a mouse click on the contour. When you leave contour cutting selection mode, unselected contours will become invisible and will not be executed.

## 2.12.2 Contours selection in the mechanical layer

In this mode, you can perform the following operations with the contours generated by "IsoCAM3000 Printer" and **4** (import of text and graphics).

## 2.12.3 Contours generation with "IsoCAM3000 Printer"

Upon starting IsoCAM3000, the "IsoCAM3000 Printer" driver is installed, which allows you to import vector information in IsoCAM3000 from any application or CAD/CAM system. On the figure is shown the test page of the printer.



## Example:

Name plate generated with MS Word:





To import a name plate into IsoCAM3000 – simply select the printer "IsoCAM3000 Printer" and press "Print".

Name:	🖶 Phone Printer				Broperbes
Status:	Ide				Find Printer
Type: Where: Comment:	PhCNC Printer PhCNC PhCNC Printer @ 2007-201	13 TELENET LI	тр.		Print to file
Page range		Copi	es		
@ Al		Nun	ber of gopies:	1 4	
Curren	t page 👘 💮 Selection	r			
O Pages:		L.		Collate	
Type p ranges from to section or pils	sage numbers and/or page separated by commas coun he start of the document or 1 h. For example, type 1, 3, 5- 1, p1s2, p1s3-p8s3	ting the -12	r Cr		
Print what:	Document	· Zoor			
Pgints	All pages in range	· Pag	es per sheet:	1 page	
		Scal	e to paper size:	No Scaling	

#### **Remark:**

IsoCAM3000 must be started (you can also start it after the printing)! The vector image is imported automatically in IsoCAM3000 (as a separate object):



By default, all contours will be processed with the tool for insulation (T0). If you want to select contours for cutout (for example the external contour), enter the mode for editing of mechanical contours by left clicking the 🖾 button.

There are two possibilities for selection of contours:



- By clicking with the mouse over a single contour. In this way you can select/deselect the desired contour
- By defining a rectangular region with the mouse. All contours fully located in the region are selected.



Right clicking on selected contours allows you to enter the "Mechanical" menu.

Mechanical	Show selected contours	
Cotate & More Selected Conects	Hide selected contours Set Tool Invert selection Select al contours	
	glear selection	

This menu will allow you to select the following options:

- Show the selected contours.
- Hide the selected contours. The hidden contours are not processed and are viewed only in the mode for editing of the mechanical layer
- Set tool menu tools that will be used to process the job
- Invert selection
- Select all contours used to select all contours Clear selection used to unselect the selected contours. This can also be accomplished by left clicking with the mouse outside of the contours, all selected contours are deselected.

The set tool menu allows you to select the tools used for the machining process.

Mechanical	•	Show selected contours	
(S. Mover In		Hide selected contours	
Balate & Move Selected Objects		Set Tool	Insulate tool (T0)
Registration pins & Thumbtacks		Invert selection Select all contours	Çut tool (T1)
🕁 Insert		Clear sellection	
TR Reeskout Tab		Sten Services	

Here, T0 is the current tool for insulation and T1 is the current instrument for cut-out.

On the figure below, the frame and the inscription IsoCAM3000 will be processed with T1 (cut-out) and the remaining text will be processed with the tool for insulation T0:





2.12.4 Generation of contours with **4** ("Insert Text")

✓ Text           Tahoma         2         •         ■         /         Ⅱ         ■         ■         ●         0	/ Text 22 ♀ ■ / U ■ = = = 0 9K	/1 Text Tahoma 2 0 ■ 1 및 ■ = = + - = 0×
Raster Text (Positive)	Raster Text (Negative)	Raster Text (Engraving)

The result is shown on the figure below:



# 2.13 💓 Design Rules Violation (DRV) detector

IsoCAM3000 utilizes DRV calculations. The main function of DRV is to check all tool paths for compatibility with the selected insulation tool (diameter). If the selected tool is bigger than the distance between the traces/pads, DRV detector will prompt you.



When this option **W** is checked DRV detector is active. It checks for DRV compatibility for each generated tool path. The DRV spots are presented with easy to see default pink:



The status bar displays information (Reasons) about DRVs and their number (for all layers on).

Button ve also shows/hides DRV spots. If it is not activated during the tool paths generation, you may turn it on later and DRV detector will check for DRVs.



If there are no DRVs the status bar will show the reasonable indicator. If DRV detector was not activated during the tool paths generation the status bar will show the reasonable indicator. If DRVs exist the only practical solution is to reduce the diameter of insulation tool (See 2.23 Forced Insulation). In the example below we changed the insulation 8.0 mil tool to a 7.7 mil tool:





In many cases the DRVs are located in the "copper text" (as shown below) and can be ignored. It is advisable for the operator to check all listed DRVs.



DRV detector will prompt you for shorts (non-insulated area that belongs to two different contours/pads/traces. If the area belongs to the same circuit (has a common contour) it will not appear as a DRV. See the case below (in red circles). The traces belong to the same circuit and are not DRVs.



## 2.14 Registration Pins and Thumbtacks

IsoCAM3000 allows you to add and display registration pins and thumbtacks visible in CAM & CNC modes of the software.

The menu "Options", contains menu option 20 which shows/hides the active registration pins and thumbtacks:





## 2.14.1 Thumbtacks

Thumbtacks are markers visible in CAM and CNC mode. They are a very convenient tool during the setup. You can set their position using one of the following methods:

- Current mouse pointer position (CAM & CNC mode), "Add thumbtack (mouse position)" from popup menu.
- Current spindle position (CNC mode only) "Add thumbtack (spindle position)" from popup menu (Simulator).

Below is an example of adding a thumbtack to the position of the mouse in CAM mode:

IsoCAM3000				And Inc. in the same	
File CAM Setup Tools Calc	Language				
	Q 129% · Q E 71 B X E 4 B St-4 *> Export Vroot			Options,	
2 🖸 2 🔂 🛙 🔯					-
¥ Insulate: 10.00		0.	-		
¥ Cut: 27.60		Select/Clone/Move objects	and a		
¥ Stencik 8.00 + 0.00 mil	And and a second s		Der		
¥ rabout tools: 125.0, 62.5, 31.3, 15.6, 10.0	PhUSBIns 00 01 DRUCC	Servep selected objects			
y drill tools: 28.0, 31.0, 36.2,		and the selected abjects			
80.0, 90.6		🔁 Seept Older 1 to Bottom	Cost-III.		
		Send Object to Top Layer			
5		Add subout reside	_		
		C Delete robout region			
		Delege all robout regions			
Top Layer		X Delete Selected Objects			
PhUSBIns_R0.GTL		Classic Selected algerts	Col+C		
Phuselans_R0-Plat		II fauftration			
PhUSBlas_R0.GTO		Selected Holes	•		
Pick Place for PhU		Q Zoom +	PgUp		
8 Sottom Layer		C Zoom -	PgDn		
PhUSBles_R0.GH1		E2] ranogame			
Phuselas_R0.G80			_ '		
Ph0583ms_R0.685		(3, Maye 1a Ø Ratate & Maye Selected Objects	1		
		Registration pies & Thumbtacks		Edit Registration pins & Thumbtacks	
		d Insert	4	Add Thurnblack (music position)	
Identiti: "Decisitive BD.GM1"		C Set Inter Point	Cirlet		
total area [m2]: 2.746 size [m]: 1.952 v 1.417		an Hada (2) -> Mana (Chd-7)			
tool path: 6.71 in duration: ~1.13 mn (F7.5 in in)		The Redu III (Shift+Cu1+Z)			
(Obv[2]: Thuseons Ro.GTL1					
total area (in2): 3.876 size (in): 2.272 x 1.706	7				-
1	0 no info X7.7386. Y6.3500 div-0.3341, div3.4880, d3.5040 [in] Default mef	beCAM8000x64 Pre v5.71.5.17	17995+64		00
		and the second se	and the second sec		

## 2.14.2 Registration Pins

Registration pins show the position of the (normally two) pins that create the mirror axis for double sided jobs.

By default, the mirror line is located at position Y with coordinate 1/2 of the Y size of the working area.

During the setup process you should not place any objects closer (than 0.5 inch) to the registration pins. Using this option, you will be able to see the real relative position between any pin and your design. Around each pin you will see a circle (dashed line) with 1.0 inch diameter that represents the area that should be clear of project objects. The registration pins must be located on the center line in the middle of Y coordinates and strictly parallel to X axis. This is the line that creates a mirror image and tool paths for the machining of the bottom layer (The Y coordinate of the mirror line can be adjusted with special command).



# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

Adding/editing of registration pins is in the popup menu:

Select/Clone/Move objects		
Select All	Ctrl+A	
Clear selection	Esc	
<u>Group selected objects</u>		
[™] × <u>U</u> ngroup selected objects		
Send Object to Bottom	Ctrl+B	
Sen <u>d</u> Object to Top Layer		
Send Object to Bottom Layer		
Add rubout region		
R0 Delete rubout region		
Delete all rubout regions		
X Delete Selected Objects		
Clone Selected objects	Ctrl+C	
Panelization		
Selected <u>Holes</u>	•	
€ <u>Z</u> oom +	PgUp	
🔾 Zoo <u>m</u> -	PgDn	
Pano <u>r</u> ame		
Mechanical	•	
R. Move To		
Rotate & Move Selected Objects		
Registration pins & Thumbtac <u>k</u> s		<b>Edit Registration pins &amp; Thumbtacks</b>
🕁 Insert	+	Add Thumbtack (mouse position)
😰 Breakout Tab	•	
Set Entry Point	Ctrl+E	
Ober Entry Foline		
∽ Undo [3] -> New Project (Ctrl+Z)		

Below is the window that allows you to add/edit registration pins and thumbtacks:

🔖 Regis	🦎 Registration pins & Thumbtacks 📃 🗾				
X[in]:	0.0000	Y[in]:	3.9370		+ Add / Update
type:	reg. pin	color:	Yellow	*	- Delete
Tacks:					- Delete
⊻ <u>×0.0</u> ⊻x7.8	♥ K0.0000 Y3.9370 reg. pin ♥ X7.8740 Y3.9370 reg. pin				
					Generate dril program for registration pins

It is a good practice to disable (remove the check mark) instead of deleting a pin or thumbtack. Registration pins and thumbtacks' settings are "global" and not saved in the project files (.PHJ).

In the above example we have 2 registration pins at (0.0000,3.9370) and at (7.8740,3.9370), shown below:





# 2.15 Insulating copper rubout.

This mode is designed to save time and tools during the prototyping process. It creates wider strips of insulation around the traces and pads (where possible) in order to have a better condition to populate the board with components leaving most of the unused copper behind. It depends on your particular design, but basically, we do not recommend it for RF designs (10 MHz and up), and high-speed digital circuits etc. Remaining copper (unconnected) may serve as a vehicle (mostly capacitive) for interferences between the circuits and make your prototype different from the board in regular production. It will give you an advantage, saving time and tools, in your audio, power supplies and other low frequency designs.

Rubout has two modes:

- Complete rubout removes all unused copper around the traces and pads in selected regions or the whole board
- Insulating rubout removes extra copper around the traces and pads.

Complete or insulating rubout can be selected by this toggling button 1/201/

- IsoCAM3000 calculates tool paths for complete rubout
- **EXAM3000** calculates tool paths for insulating rubout

Below is an example of complete rubout:









Insulating rubout will create a minimum insulation (D) of all selected regions. This does not apply for the spaces between the traces/pads that are less than the rubout minimum. The tool table for (full) copper rubout is used for Insulation rubout too. Now (rev 1.15.9 and up) you can select desired insulation width in the Insulation rubout mode. If you select "auto" the insulation width will be equal to the largest tool in the table.

lubou	rt tools	12			Penetration Depth (mil):	Dameter (d) [n]:	0.0156		¥	Select Tool	QK
2		18:	45.6 mil	Stab End Hill 0.0155 /0.396m S60000 FR15.0 PR40.0	m 3.0 mil	Type:	Stub End Hill		۷		
	¥	T1:	31.3 mil	Stub End Hill 0.0313"/0.795m	m 3.0 mil	Feed rate [n/n]:	(15.0)	۲			
	8	12:	62.5 mil	Stub End Hill 0.0625"/1.588m	m 3.6 mil	Plunge rate (in/in):	(40.0)				
	¥	T3:	125.0 mil	Stub End Hill 0.1250"/3.175m	m 3.0 mil	Speed [RPM]:	(60000)	14			
	¥	Th	ha f. f.	Stab End Hill 0.0313"/0.795ev	In 5.6 ml	Penetration Depth [mi]:	3.0	~			
	¥	150	31.3 ml	Stub End Hill 0.0313"/0.795m	lie 0.5	Peck step [mi]:	(sone)	v			
	¥	1.61	12.5 ml	Stub Ind Hill 0.0625"/1.588m	m 3.0 ml	tool tip (t) [mi]:	8.0				
	¥	12	123 mil	Stub Ind NE 0.06257/1.588m S60000 FR15.0 PR40.0	5.0 ml		Cutting dep	pth Z = 3	5,0 mi		
						_					
		R	about type:	Insulation Rubout	haa						2: 3.0 mi
	Ins	ulation	rubout width	[n]: 0.1250" ·	000		-	4. 15.	i mi	-	
	Ru	bout d	rection: Cor	nical 🗹 Tool overlag	n Hedium 💌			1000			
	() () () ()	nt the Dod	rubout area 5 ude the defini Subout Region	o the mechanical layer ed rubout regions ns (mported)							

In the example above 100 mils is selected. This means all pads and traces in the selected region will have an insulation of 100 mils (when possible). The algorithm that creates the tool paths is very



effective and uses the smaller tool only in places that next (larger) tool cannot penetrate (without interfering with design features).

# 2.16 CAM350 import

IsoCAM3000 is able to import CAM350 files without the need to export them (from CAM 350) in Gerber and/or Excellon formats.

### Notes:

- 1. CAM350 ® is a registered mark of Downstream Technologies, LLC.
- 2. Files generated by CAM 350 do not have released specifications. We consider this option an "Alfa" revision and we are not responsible for errors.

Button 🕬 will allow you to select a CAM350 file (.CAM).

Once you select a .CAM file the "CAM layers" window will appear. In the list are the layers of loaded .CAM file:

Import "C:\PhCNC\CAMfiles\Dc-dc3.cam" (alfa)	
CAM Layers:	conner: 3.9 cm2
Top Bottom Mech Steps Stoten 1.SPL	3.510" x 2.210"
Top Dottom Mech Store Store 3.5Pt	• • • • •
Top Dottom Mech Street Store 4.5PL	
Top Bottom Mech Street De-dc3.drl	•
∐ DrilLdri	· · · · · · · · · ·
	•
Photopiot resolution (dpi): 1 000 🗇	Layer: 4.5PL
Q 125% V Q 🗄 🚰 🛻	
	<u>.</u>
PTOTR: Default.mpf size: 3.510" x 2.210" 00.08.2006 16/26/44 66 k% V4.0005 V0.0062 eV0.0062 eV0.0062 eV0.0065 eV10.4108 128 evm	

Similar to importing Gerber/Drill files, the operator should select layers for import. The drill file is generated from the information embedded in CAM file. A click over the layer shows the graphics in the right window. Selected layers appeared in the lower window.

By default, IsoCAM3000 selects the first 3 layers as Top (copper), Bottom (copper), and Mech (mechanical). The operator should check if this order is correct. Similar to Gerber/Drill import you can use the lower window for detailed inspection and measurement of the files. (See 2.1.3)

Import *C:\PhCNC\CAMfiles\Dc-dc3.cam* (alfa)	
OM Layers:	
Top Bottom Mech Stop 1500 1.591	3.510" x 2.210"
Top Bottom Mech Strips Strips 2.5PL Top Bottom Mech Strips Strips 3.5PL	1. San 1. San 1
Top Bottom Mech 🖉 📅 🖓 🖉 States 🗋 4.5PL	
Top Bottom Mech Street Bottom Dc-dc3dd	
Top Bottom I Drilldel	
Photopict resolution (dpi) 1000 🗘	Layer: 1.SPL
Q 423% V Q 23 🛏 📭	
	+)
▏▕▌▌▋▋▆▓▓▖▙▆▓▖▌▔▋▁▋▔	¥
1	[F]
Profie: Default.mpf 😢 size: 3.510" x 2.210"	
09-09-2006 14/26/54 46/KB X1.9265, Y1.1048 dX0.5184, dY0.1029, d0.5285* dX13.167, dY2.615, d13.425 mm	

# 2.17 DXF import

IsoCAM3000 imports 2D DXF files (AutoCAD).



Button initiates DXF files import in IsoCAM3000. After DXF file selection a window for layers selection (for machining) comes up. Here are the conditions that are related to import of DXF files in IsoCAM3000.

- Each operation (cutting, drilling, countersinking, and milling) must have a separate layer.
- Only closed contours are recognized for machining.
- In a layer that has 2 objects (for example lines) closer than 0.001", it is approximated that they are connected.
- Drill/countersink information is extracted from the existing circles in the DXF file.
- Text information in the DXF files is not processed.

Usually, DXF files contain more information than is needed for machining. By default, all layers are visible and included. As a first task you have to unselect all layers that are not related to the machining process.

DXF Import	
Units: Millimeters  Ster: 1.284* x 0.980* DXF Visible Layers Cut Drill & Countersink Mill Visible DXF layers: Color: Silver  U Layer1	
Layer2 Layer3 Layer4 Layer5 Layer5 Layer5 Layer5 Logic taper dril Vilogic taper dril Vilogic spring hole mil Vilogic spring hole mil Vilogic gis sheff mil Vilogic gis sheff mil	
Profile: Default.mpf V	



## 2.17.1 Selecting DXF layers for "Cut" operation

DXF Import				
Units: Inches Size: 0.679" × 0 Max Size: 16.795" ×	.672" 10.630"		Import Export Gerbers	
Dif Yeilde Layers Cut Dif layers for cutting: Cutting: Cutting: Cutting: Cutting:	Drill & Counterrink Color:	Mill Red	Info	
Profile: Default.mpf	U	e Origin	y	

Here you have to select the layer for the "Cut" operation. Usually, it is the last one in the machining process.

In the example above it is in red (more than one layer is allowed).

## 2.17.2 Selecting DXF layers for Drill & Countersink

DXF Import	
Units: Inches Size: 0.679" x 0.672" Max Size: 16.795" x 10.630" DXF Visible Layers Cut Drill & Countersink Mill Info Holes for drilling Color: Yellow Y 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
Holes for countersinking (Bottom): Color: Lime V Holes for countersinking (Bottom): Color: Lime V Note: Use Origin Default pof	

As you can see above, all layers in the list contain closed contours. They are interpreted as shapes, holes, and countersinks. Possible assignments of each layer are.

- Drill
- Countersink Top Layer
- Countersink Bottom Layer
- Milling
- Cutout



To assign a layer to desired operation replace the red "x" mark with check mark.

## 2.17.3 Selecting DXF layers for milling (MILL)

IsoCAM3000 is able to mill closed contours:



Example of an imported DXF file:



# 2.18 Holes and pads insertion

CAM mode of IsoCAM3000 allows you to insert additional holes and pads in order to meet the needs of fiducial registration process. This option can also be used for many other purposes like for instance when you need an additional hole or pad in your project. All inserted holes or pads are treated as separated objects and can be moved, grouped, selected...etc. as any object in CAM mode of IsoCAM3000.

### 2.18.1 Holes insertion

The submenu of "Insert" (from main popup menu) will provide you with two options





- Hole with current diameter (visible in the menu)
- Hole with custom diameter (it will become current)

Below is the window for custom diameter.



The centers of inserted holes will be placed on the mouse cursor position at the time when you call the popup menu (right click). If you need to determine them accurately use the high zoom feature. Actual position of the holes used for references in fiducial registration is not important. Place them anywhere convenient for your design (we recommended along the X axis). Placing them at the maximum distance apart will improve the accuracy of your fiducial registration. Using the same Y coordinates will make finding the second fiducial easier.

### Note:

There is no limitation where to place your holes. They can be placed outside of your project or inside the existing objects from your project.

### Important:

Holes that will be used for fiducial registration (existing in the project or added as dedicated for the registration) MUST be in the camera access frame (The smaller internal frame in your CAM screen).

## 2.18.2 Through-hole pads insertion

The process of inserting through-hole pads is the same as in 2.18.1 You have two choices, a current size or customized (that becomes current after usage).



### Notes:

- The pads are insulated circles that are entered in both the top and bottom layers.
- The drill diameter for the hole and through-hole (with pad) is the same if you change one, the other will follow
- Pad diameter can not be smaller than hole diameter. If pad diameter is entered smaller then the hole diameter it will be equal to the hole diameter.

## 2.18.3 Insert Target ...

Menu option "Insert Target ...", allows inserting of different "target" apertures at the mouse cursor position.



All apertures are predefined but adding new ones can be done by request.


# 2.19 Vector Text insertion function

IsoCAM3000 allows you to insert simple vector text into your design or as a separate project. The execution of the text is in "Insulation top" or "Insulation bottom" programs in CNC mode. This function offers a single line of text which is different from standard text <a>(see 2.12.3)</a>) where the symbols are engraved as an outline of their shape. The thickness of the line in this mode is equal to the size of your insulation tool. The vector text function will allow you to insert very small size symbols in your project. For example, 32 mills (0.8mm) high symbols look good when you are using a typical 8 mil (0.2 mm) insulation tool.



To use this function, you have to select Insert from the popup menu:

You will then be presented with the vector text window as seen below:

149442_0 1497	
1494r2_0	x
<u>1494r2_0</u> 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 5	ancel
1494r2_0	
1494r2_0	
115 112_0	

The upper portion of the window is a simple text editor. The lower portion shows how the text will actually appear according to your settings.

The text size will be the same as the standard text sizes found in other text editor programs.

Buttons  $\blacksquare \bowtie$  are for text slant (left or right).

Buttons width.

Buttons  $\blacksquare$  are to change the spacing between the symbols.

Buttons 🖾 🖾 are to change the spacing between the lines (if there is more than one).

After you confirm your text is ready with "OK" button the text will be inserted in the position of the mouse cursor that you initially called the popup menu from.





Inserted text objects can be manipulated just like other objects can they can be cloned, rotated, moved, grouped etc.

In the sample below the text is rotated at 45 degrees:

If you need to insert text in bottom layer, you have to use the (drag & drop) function.

In the sample below text from the sample above has been cloned and moved to bottom layer.



### Note:

When the text is moved to bottom layer it is automatically mirrored along the Y axis. It will be mirrored again when you machine the bottom layer and will become readable.

### 2.20 Breakout Tabs

IsoCAM3000 allows you to insert breakout tabs in the cutout contour.

Breakout tabs are small interruptions of the cutout contour that allow your ready board to remain firmly attached to the main work piece until you decide to remove it by breaking them. Using breakout tabs will allow your finished board to remain on its relative position to the work piece and any registration holes that may be in the work piece. This will allow you to use the registration holes for further operations like solder dispensing or automatic component placement. It will also prevent your board from being picked up and dragged by the vacuum (debris collection) system.

### 2.20.1 Breakout tabs insertion

Breakout tab insertions are possible in IsoCAM3000 in the CAM mode. Place the mouse pointer at desired position of cutout contour and make a right click. Select "Breakout tab" menu then select the "Insert" option from the list as seen in the sample below:



The "Insert" option is allowed only when the mouse pointer is on a cutout contour (mechanical layer).

Shown below is the inserted breakout tab:





Tab width is calculated by IsoCAM3000 and is independent from other contour parameters e.g. if you set 20 mils, the remaining material (at the closest point) will be 20 mils.

When you have cloned objects, inserting breakout tabs in one object will spread to all copies. Thus, inserting tabs before or after cloning will have the same result.



Shortcut: Place the mouse pointer on the desired point of the cutout contour. Use **Ctrl+T** to insert tab.

#### Note:

Tabs cannot be inserted over another existing tab, or placed where there is not enough space for the tab.

#### Note:

- Tabs positions and size are stored in the .PHJ project files so when you load a project file it comes with the individual settings of the tabs already in place.
- When you Import a project file it uses the current settings of the tabs. The imported files tabs will be recalculated in order to use current cutout tool.





### 2.20.2 Breakout tabs removal

To remove a tab place the mouse pointer over the small "x" (tab center) and make a right click. A popup menu will then appear. Select option "Breakout tabs" from the menu then select option "Delete" from sub menu.

Shortcut: Place the mouse pointer on the desired point of the cutout contour. Use **Ctrl+T** to remove tab.

#### Note:

Removing a tab from a cloned object will remove the tabs from all copies.

### 2.20.3 Breakout tab width setting

Select "Breakout tabs" then select "Setup".

Breakout Tab Setup

By "default" tab width is 20mil (~0.5mm) but can be changed to meet certain material requirements. When the width is changed IsoCAM3000 recalculates all tabs to the new setting. If the width is increased and there is not enough space for a particular tab it will be removed.

#### Important:

If you change the cutout tool diameter, IsoCAM3000 will remove all tabs. Therefore it is recommended to insert tabs after the selection of a cutout tool.

#### 2.20.4 Breakout tabs complete removal.

Select "Breakout tabs" and then select option "Delete All" from sub menu.

### 2.21 Units of measurement [mm]/[in]

IsoCAM3000 (1.15.2+) now handles imperial [inch] and metric [mm] units. By default, the active measurement units are set to inch and this will allow for the use of mils [mil], (1/1000 of an inch).

Switching between measurement units can be done from the Cam menu by selecting the Units menu option.



Selected units are shown in the status bar:

🔮 no warnings X5,5904, Y4,8153 dx5,5904, dy-6,5047, d8,6377 1000dp[in] Default

Note:

# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual



# 2.22 UNDO/REDO

IsoCAM3000 has an UNDO/REDO function. The size of UNDO/REDO buffer is 32 commands deep.

The following operations can use the UNDO/REDO function:

- MOVE (objects move)
- IMPORT (import of project or gerber/drill files)
- CLONE (copy/clone of objects)
- GROUP (group of objects)
- UNGROUP (ungroup of objects)
- SEND_TO_BOTTOM (Send to Bottom)
- ROTATE (rotation of objects)
- DELETE (removing of objects)
- INSERT_HOLE (insertion of drill holes)
- INSERT_PAD (insertion of pads)
- INSERT_TTF_TEXT (insertion of TTF text)
- INSERT_VECTOR_TEXT (insertion of vector text)
- NEW_PROJECT (new project)
- FIDUCIAL_MOVE (positioning project CNC mode point one) available in IsoCAM3000 only
- FIDUCIAL_ROTATE (rotating project CNC mode point two) available in IsoCAM3000 only

If you start a New Project by mistake you can "UNDO -> New Project" This will take you back to the old project as it was when you were there before the New Project was opened. But there is no REDO for New Project you simply need to select New Project for the file menu again.

#### Note:

• Undo/Redo commands are located in the CAM menu and can only be used with CAM functions.

Select/Clone/Move objects	
Sphert All	CHEA
Clear selection	
Group selected adjects	
Try Unproop selected algects	
5 Send Object to Bottom	C01-0
Smid Object to Top Layer	
Send Object to Bottom Layer	
Add rubout region	
Didete robest region	
Delete all robout regions	
X Deleta Selected Others	
Close Selected objects	
E Constication _	
Selected Holes	
A Zoom +	PgUp
Q Zoom -	PgDn
Panogame	
Mechanical	•
S. Mour In	
Actate & Mare Selected Objects	
Registration pins & Thumbtacks	•
d Insert	
🖪 Breakout Tab	
Sut Entry Point	Chilef
Indo [3] → Clone (Ctrl+Z)	
Pa Rada (III (Shift-Ctri-Z)	

Each Undo/Redo command contains the information for operation that is reversed, and the digit in square brackets shows the number of commands in the corresponding buffer.

Undo and Redo have short cuts on the keyboard Ctrl+Z (Undo) and Shift+Ctrl+Z (Redo).

Most of Undo commands activated by Ctrl+Z need additional conformation.

Commands that are executed without conformation are: MOVE, GROUP, UNGROUP, ROTATE & SEND_TO_BOTTOM



The rest of the commands when called by Ctrl+Z, will display the window bellow:

0	Do you real "Undo (	y want to execute: 3] -> Clone " 7

#### Note:

- All UNDO commands activated from menu are executed without conformation.
- All REDO commands despite how they are activated DO NOT require conformation!

REDO reverses the last UNDO command, but if you have another command that is in the UNDO list, the REDO buffer will be cleared.

#### Important:

REDO/UNDO buffers are cleared after execution of the following commands:

- Load Project
- Save Project
- Tool size change (insulation; cut; stencil) or project dpi

### 2.23 Forced Insulation

IsoCAM3000 has a function "Forced Insulation" that allows the system to handle sections of the design marked by DRV (See 2.13 Design Rules Violation) as impossible to insulate. The standard response of IsoCAM3000 tool path generation doesn't allow the tools to penetrate inside the traces/pads contours in this situation. When the distance between the traces/pads is smaller than selected insulation tool diameter it leaves them not insulated. Those sections are shown in different color (pink-red default settings) when the DRV is on. The "Forced Insulation" algorithm creates a practical compromise, reducing the size of both (all) features affected and will generate a single tool pass that reduces the size of them equally.

Button ¹⁶⁵ is for "Forced Insulation" and has the following functions:

- Calculates tool paths used in "Forced Insulation". If the tool paths are never calculated the first activation will do so. If DRV function wasn't activated it will start it.
- Shows/hides tool paths related to "Forced Insulation".

This option can be activated also from Insulation Tools Window!

Shown below are sections of a design detected by DRV:





Shown below are the same sections insulated by "Forced Insulation" function:



Light blue (default) strips shows additional copper removed from the design features when zoomed in to view the "Forced Insulation" paths.

Button will also serve as a switch to include/exclude the problematic sections in the machining process. "Forced insulation" tool paths are not automatically recalculated when you change the insulation tool diameter. If you change the insulation tool diameter you need to run the DRV function again to see if the new tool diameter will correct the DRV(s) or leave an acceptable amount of copper on the affected areas when using "Forced insulation".

# 2.24 Remove spikes (IPD)

When the insulation only is used (not full copper rubout) very tiny copper strips may be left over from machining (hair sized). They do not have enough foundation to the board substrate and usually become free moving copper hairs that can create a condition for fine (hard to see) shorts on the board. It is relatively easy to remove them using "scotch bright". In some cases (extremely fine board pitch) the use of "scotch bright" is not recommended just because it may damage the original circuit. IsoCAM3000 software offers a secure option "Remove Spikes (IPD)" (Insulation Problems Detector) that locates and removes this potential source of problems. Shown below are some examples.





With the activation of IPD, the zones that have potential problems will be additionally machined in order to remove them.



Remove spikes (IPD) has optional parameter settings in the Insulation Tools window:

	10: 16.0 ml	Stab End Hill 0.0100		Penetra	1000						
	10: 10.0 mil	Stub End Hill 0.0100*		Depth (	IND:	Diameter (d) [in]:	0.0100		٠	V Select Tool	QK
	and a summariant of the Warrante	550000 FR15 0 PR40	/0.254mm	3.0 m	1	Туре:	Stub End Hill		*	•	
	the aread	V90 Tip(0.0000"/0.0	indenam >	2.0 m	4	Peed rate (in/in):	(15.0)	٧			
	12 7.0 mil	V90 Tip(0.0000'/0.0	100ermij			Plunge rate (in/m):	(40.0)	*			
	a said	-560000 FR15.8 PR40. V45 TipE0.00707/6.3	10 12%mm3			Speed (RPM):	(60000)	¥			
L .	1.0- 3.00 MM	560000 FR15.0 PR40.	un .	1010		Convent:	501_15				
	a ting day	560000 FR15.0 PR40	70.400mm	3.0 m	a:	Penetration Depth (mi):	3.0	*			
08:	12.5 ml	Stub End Hill 0.0625" \$60000 F#15.0 FR48	71.500mm	3.0 m	4	Peck step (mi):	(none)	۲			
D V	10.325.044	Study End Hill 0.1250*	/3.175mm	3.0 -	6	tool to (t) (mil):	0.0				
	17: 123-0 mil	V90 Tip(0.0000'/0.0 SLODDD PR15.0 FR40.	268	30.0	of (		Cutting dep	th Z = 1	1.0 mil		
Design Ra	ules Violation		Arc precision:	High	*		-			7-3.0 ml	
Forced In Remove	sulation spikes (IPD)		ener precision:	High			-		~	1	
Minimal t	tool path overlaps	ning [mi]: 1.00 🕑	Spike size:	Small	~						
1	Minimal copper w	dh (m): 2.00 🖂		T	,						
Insulatio	n tools order -	ascending (smallest b	to largest)	_							

The parameters you may set are:



- minimal distance between tool paths that can be considered problematic (usually 0.5 mil).
- minimal residual copper width that can be considered source of potential problems (usually 2 mil).

As a bottom line, using IPD when you do not use full copper rubout is very recommended.



#### Page 83 of 103

### 2.25 Measure

This is a very convenient function that allows the user to measure distances on the project. After activation it shows the distance to the current mouse position. To measure distance place mouse cursor on the first point and make a left click. Move the mouse to the second point and read the measurement results. In order to have maximum accuracy use high zooms.

Ne (	CAM Setup Tools Calc Lang	iage	
ني 1	Select/Clone/Move objects Select Al		Q 23 71 1
	Compositented objects Unique selected objects		2
	Send Object to Batture Send Object to Top Laper		
-	Send Object to Betturn Laper	15	
-	Add rubout region		
	Delete rubout region Delete all rubout regions		
	× Delete Selected Objects	Del	
-	Come Selected Objects	CNIFE	
	Selected Holes		
e 6	Mechanical		
	Bildetate its Movie Selected Object	N	
C	Units		
-	Show Origin		11-
	Contour Cutting Direction		
	Printer Driver Input	10	
	- Prest management as	_	
	The Read of The Read of Street of St		

Canceling the Measure function can be done from the menu or simply by pressing space bar. Another convenient way to use it (for single measurement) is to place mouse on the first point, press and hold the space bar, move the mouse to the second point and read the results.



On screen information contains the distance, X difference, Y difference and the angle related to X axis. It is shown in the measurement units selected (inch/mm).



## 2.26 G-Code / HPGL Export from IsoCAM3000

The software revision named IsoCAM3000 generates G-Code or HPGL that can be executed on almost any CNC machine that accepts G & M codes or HPGL / Excellon2.

The button sin IsoCAM3000 calls a window with two tabs for G-Code / HPGL export:

G-Code &	HPGL Exp	ort						
Output Settin	nga							D tree
G Code	Here and	Hard and the function is a state of the last test						X Cancel
the one of	contract (0.04			3				_
Pri	oject Name:	TERHOSENSE						
	Use cu	erent project name						depth upd
Destina	ation Folder:	C\Users\Public\Documents\JsoCAH3000\All Users\Expo	rt					
	Open	Destination Folder						W Insulat
	Profie:	Default.mpf			×			Setup
o euro			-	. Feeds	ete Plucos	-	. Perk sh	
hoject Tools V toroda	e ate 10	Stab (nd Hill 0.0100"/0.254mm (Invalute,Jinbout,Drill,Cat StH_15	Speed (1) (60000)	m]: Feed ( [cm	ete Plunge ]: [pm]	rate To	ol: Peck sti [ni]: v (nose)	to Depth [mi]:
hopect Tools Tools Cut To	: al:: TO 0	Stub (mi Full 6/0100"/0-254mm (Involute).theol.(Intil SEP_15 Router bit 0.0944"/2.499mm (Drill,Cut)	Speed [1 (60000) (60000)	(7.5)	ate Plunge  i [pm]  ~ (40.0) (20.0)	rete To	ol: Peck sti [mi]: (none) (none)	⁶⁹ Depth [mi]:   <b>v</b>   3.0mil   <b>v</b>  80.0mil
hogent Tools <mark>V Toosede</mark> V Cut TO V Rubos	: di= 70 0 vt 71	Stah (nd Hal 6.0) (107/02/Seener (Lewistip United) (nd 547-13) Rovier Int 0.0944*(2.499mm (Driff,Cat) Stah Ind Hill 0.0156*(0.396mm (Lesuiste,Rubout,Driff,Cat 544, 15	Speed (1) (60000) (60000) (60000)	(15.0)	ete Plunge (20.0) (20.0) (40.0)	rate To 1 TO TO T1	ol: Peck st [ni]: (nose) (nose) (nose)	Depth (mi): 3.0mil V 80.0mil 3.0mil
roject Tools <mark>     Provide</mark> V Cut To Rubos Rubos	e ale 10 o ot 11 ot 72	Stah (nd 1 kill 6.0 (tor ) (0.25 finan ( torothe ) the bask, brief, col 547, 13 Stah (nd 1 kill 6.0 (547 / 2.49 finan ( torothe ) ( 10 kill 6.0 kill) Stah (nd 1 kill 6.0 ( 15 % / 0.39 finan ( torothe ) ( torothe ) Stah (nd 1 kill 6.0 ( 13 % / 0.39 finan ( torothe ) ( torothe ) Stah (nd 1 kill 6.0 ( 13 % / 0.39 finan ( torothe ) ( torothe ) ( torothe ) Stah ( nd 1 kill 6.0 ( 13 % / 0.39 finan ( torothe ) ( torot	Speed (cooco) (cooco) (cooco) (cooco) (cooco)	re]: Feed r [per] (15.0) (7.5) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Punge (pm) (40.0) (20.0) (40.0) (40.0)	T0 T0 T1 T2	d: Peck st [mi]: (none) (none) (none) (none)	P Depth [m]: 3.0mil 3.0mil 3.0mil
Yopect Tools Y Cut To Y Cut To Y Rabos Y Rabos Y Rabos	ele 77 0 ut T1 ut T2 ut T3	State of 167.6.1007/02546.mm (Conditional Conditional	Speed (coooc) (coooc) (coooc) (coooc) (coooc)	(7.5) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Punge [1 [pn] (40.0) (20.6) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0)	T0 T0 T0 T1 T2 T3	ol: Pecksti [ni]: v (none) (none) (none) (none) (none)	Depth [ml]: 3.0ml B0.0ml 3.0ml 3.0ml 3.0ml
Topect Tools Topect Cut To Rubos Rubos Rubos Rubos Rubos	e ale: TO o ut T1 ut T2 ut T3 ut T4	State of the Sci Dia Yaka Science (tension parliam trend of Sci Parla Sci Dia Sci Dia Yaka Sci Dia Sci	Speed [1 (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000)	re]: Feed r [cm] (15.0) (7.5) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Punge (pm) (20.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0)	T0 T0 T1 T2 T3 T4	ol: Peck st [ni]: v (none) (none) (none) (none) (none)	Depth [ni]: 3.0mil (* 80.0mil 3.0mil 3.0mil 3.0mil 3.0mil
Forect Tools Cut TO Cut TO Rubos Rubos Rubos Rubos Cut TO Rubos	ade 70 0 out 71 out 72 out 73 out 74 (1	Statistical (n. 1974) Statistical (n. 1974)	Speed [1 (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000)	(15.0) (7.5) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Punge (om (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0)	T0 T0 T0 T1 T2 T3 T4 T1	(nose) (nose) (nose) (nose) (nose) (nose) (nose) (nose)	<ul> <li>Depth [nl]:</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>80.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>8.0mil</li> </ul>
Forect Tools Cut To Cut To Rubos Rubos Rubos Rubos Cuil T Cuil T Cuil T	e 10 0 ut 71 ut 72 ut 73 ut 73 (1 (2	Schryfef Hall Gellar (1997) 45 strang (rendstragtarhundstragt) Stragts Skoter Int do 60944 (72499mm (Direktor) Skote Int Hall Gellar (7359) Skote Int Ha	Speed [1 (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000)	(15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Plunge [m] (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0)	To To To T1 T2 T3 T4 T1 T2 T2	d: Peck at [nd]: (none) (none) (none) (none) (none) (none) (none)	<ul> <li>Depth [m];</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>(80.0)mil</li> <li>(80.0)mil</li> </ul>
Forest Tools Cut TC Cut TC Rubos Rubos Rubos Rubos Donit T Conit T U Donit T	ete 70 0 ut 71 ut 72 ut 73 ut 74 (1 2 5	State of 167.6.5 (107) /0.25 few (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 600997 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 600997 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 600997 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Constate Junior Long Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Con State 15 to 60097 /2.49 fem (Con S	Speed [1 (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000) (60000)	(7.5) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0) (15.0)	ete Plunge (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0) (40.0)	relate To 12 TO TO TO TO TI T2 T3 T4 T1 T2 T3 T4 T1 T2 T3 T4 T1 T2 T3 T4 T3 T3 T4 T3 T3 T4	di: Peck st [rd]: (none) (none) (none) (none) (none) (none) (none) (none)	<ul> <li>Depth [m];</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>3.0mil</li> <li>60.0mil</li> <li>(80.0)mil</li> <li>(80.0)mil</li> <li>(80.0)mil</li> </ul>

IsoCAM3000, generates a G-Code / HPGL program for each machining process needed in your design:

- Insulation (Top)
- Insulation (Bottom)
- Drill
- Rubout (Top)
- Rubout (Bottom)
- Cut (Bottom)
- Stencil (Top)
- Stencil (Bottom)

You have two options to export: G-Code or HPGL.

Basic parameters that you must determinate are:

#### G-Code Units:

Units of measurement that will be generated in G-Code program(s), G20 ([in]) or G21 ([mm]). By default, measuring units are in [in].

#### HPGL Units:

Units of measurement that will be generated in case of HPGL export. They can be as follows:

- HPGL units: 0.010mm, 0.025mm, 1.0mil, 0.1mil
- Excellon2: 0.010mm, 0.025mm, 1.0mil, 0.1mil

#### **Project Name:**

This is the name of the project and will be a prefix for all G programs generated.

Example:

Project name: THERMOSENSE,

Generated files are:

LO Mar Task Hale	-					-	-
gant Yern Toon Deb Builde in Iguah A Space with A		um New folder			н.	3	
Downloads		Name	Date modified	Type	Size		
E Favorites		TERMOSENSE Drill (Top).GM9	06-Oct-21 17:54	CAMtastic Mecha	3 108		
IAR-CMSIS-Packs		TERMOSENSE Drill (Top).NCD	06-Oct-21 17:54	NCD File	2 KB		
LideaProjects	130	TERMOSENSE Insulation (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:54	Text Document	1 KB		
InstallAnywhere		TERMOSENSE Insulation (Bottom).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:54	PLT File	19 KB		
Intel		TERMOSENSE Insulation (Top) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:54	Text Document	3 800		
a Intelsav		TERMOSENSE Insulation (Top).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:54	PLT File	37 KB		
P Links		TERMOSENSE Mech (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:54	Text Document	1 KB		
mcuspresso		TERMOSENSE Mech (Bottom).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:54	PLT file	2 KB		
My Documents		TERMOSENSE Rubout (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:54	Text Document	1.68		
a my music		TERMOSENSE Rubout (Bottom).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:54	PLT File	193 KB		
My Pictures		TERMOSENSE Rubout (Top) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:54	Text Document	1 KB		
MyComponents		TERMOSENSE Rubout (Top).PLT	06-0ct-21 17:54	PLT File	240 KB		
myRepository							

If there is no project name – generated files will have names related to the operations that they represent only.

All Mars Task Hels	sers + Public I	Public Documents + Bocam3000 + All Osers	• Export	• •y Search Dep	97	-	-
e <b>gan Yew Yoon Hea</b> b Nganize • Include in library • Sh	ece with • 8	urn New folder					
Downloads		Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		
Er Favorites		Drill (Top).GM9	05-0ct-21 17:55	CAMtastic Mecha-	3 KB		
AR-CMSIS-Packs		Drill (Top).NCD	06-Oct-21 17:56	NCD File	2 KB		
JdeaFrojects		Insulation (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	06-0ct-21 17:56	Text Document	1 KB		
J InstaliAnywhere		Insulation (Bottom).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:56	PLT File	19 KB		
🚛 intel		Insulation (Top) - Readme.TXT	06-Oct-21 17:56	Text Document	1 KB		
intel.sav		Insulation (Top).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:56	PLT File	37 KB		
Links		Mech (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	05-Oct-21 17:56	Text Document	1 KII		
👍 mcuxpresso		Mech (Bottom).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:56	PLT File	2 KB		
My Documents		Rubout (Bottom) - Readme.TXT	05-Oct-21 17:56	Text Document	1 KH		
My Music		Rubout (Bottom).PLT	05-0ct-21 17:55	PLT File	193 KB		
My Pictures		Rubout (Top) - Readme.TXT	05-Oct-21 17:56	Text Document	1 KB		
My Videos		Rubout (Top).PLT	06-Oct-21 17:56	PLT file	240 KB		

If "Use Project Name" is selected, the project name will be the name of current project (if any). The files extension name is .GNC (by default) but can be changed if needed.

### "Open destination folder"

If this option is selected, the folder that contains the G programs will be open (see examples above).



# 2.27 Gerber Export ...

IsoCAM3000 allows an export of all Gerber and Excellon drill files in the current project . All visible files are exported including the info files that are not involved in the machining process.

Import Gerber & Drill _	83
Import DXF	
Import CAM350	
Import Bitmap	
Import G code	
New Project	Ctrl+N
Open Project	Ctrl+O
Import Project	Ctrl+I
Save As Project	Ctrl-S

Gerber Export window allows to scale the files exported in Gerber and Excellon format (if needed).



After the export IsoCAM3000 automatically opens the folder that contain the exported files.

File Edit View Tools Help	-			and the second se		-	-	
Organize • Include in library • Share with •		urn New folder				1E •	-	
📕 codprojects	*	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size			
🔔 Corel		PhUSBHUB6 R2 Panel.DRL	05-Oct-21 18-04	DRL File	75 KB			
L CrashDump		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GBL	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Botto	568 KB			
di Data		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GBO	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Botto	810 KB			
Downloaded Data Sheets		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GBP	05-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Botto	73 KB			
Embarcadero		PhUSBHUB6_R2_PaneLGBS	05-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Botto	106 KB			
🍰 InterBase		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GM1	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Mecha	5 KB			
IsoCAM 3000	10	PhUSBHUB6_R2_PaneLGM9	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Mecha	166 KI			
All Users	1	PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GTL	05-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Top La	971 KI			
Autobave		PhUSBHUB6_R2_PaneLGTO	05-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Top O	2.817 KB			
Distributors		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GTP	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Top Pa	145 KB			
L Export		PhUSBHUB6_R2_Panel.GTS	06-Oct-21 18:04	CAMtastic Top So	182 KB			
d Gerber Export								
M66_TE-A_SCH&PCB_VL03_20150127	×.,							

Exported Gerber and drill files can be imported back in IsoCAM3000 (for example after scaling on X/Y axes) or used in another CAD/CAM software.



# IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

🖸 Gerber & Drill Import			
Centre Ad Datal Import           Solect, C. (Cliner-Virable (Decoments) Line CAU10000 (AII Uners) for           Para         Cate/Time           Para         P	Here Expert         Col         F           Dat         Dat         507.00         GBL           507.00         GBL         GBL         507.00         GBL           100.00         GBL         GBL         GBL         507.00         GBL           100.00         GBL         GBL         GBL         507.00         GBL         507.00         GBL         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507.00         507	Levre: Prop Datas Prop Datas	PK/064.66_j2_Perd.015
CAD: Default	V Apply 📆	Profie: Default.mpf 💌 8.0	081" x 7.322"
C:\Users\Public\Documents\JsoCAM3000\All Users\Gerber Export\PhUS8HU8	6 06-10-2021 15:04:25	182 KB X3.5961, Y0.0698* dX3.5961, dY0.0698, d3.5967* dX91.3398, dY1.7736, d91.3570	mm

Import & Export Gerbers & Info layers - video: (2.27) <u>https://youtu.be/IVOVg7DZEqg</u>



# 2.28 Print

IsoCAM3000 has an additional capability to print the layers of the project. Print Preview window has the following options:

- printer selection and its settings
- scaling the print with individual scale factors for X and Y (common for all layers)
- individual settings for each layer
  - Positive/Negative
  - Mirror
  - Print allows the layer to be printed
  - Caption includes the name of the layer in the print
    - Mirror prints the name in mirror

4 Print Preview	
Prior         Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         To Lance         Mean           Page ratio (b) & 50 + 10.00         Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         Mean           Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         Mean           Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         Mean         Mean           Sale Ratio         Sale Ratio         Mean         Mean	re Capton Visible Hirror mechanical layer a 6 - Tao Mark Daon 7 - Botton Mark
Total Litelikee       Topa 2 - Sotteen Liter       Topa 3 - Sotteen Liter       Topa 3 - Sotteen Liter       Topa 4 - Topa 3 - Topa 4	ge 1 - 120 Max   Page 2 - Bottom Max   Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers: Layers:
Buy Pates	Sant Sat

Layers' list includes all visible layers in the project. It is advisable to disable (hide) all layers that you don't have an intention to print. In the center window you will see the selected layer. Using left double click on the layers name is the fastest way to enable/disable the layer for printing. This button and other printer specific settings. Individual settings for each layer (Negative, Mirror, Caption, Caption mirror) and the printer used for IsoCAM3000 are saved in order to shorten the time needed in the next usage of Print option. Button sends all selected layers for printing and closes the Print Preview window. Button sends the current page only and leaves the Print Preview window open.

### Note:

In the field for printer information, you may have a message "Invalid printer". This can happen in the cases when there are problems with the printer driver and its settings, missing DLL file or non-existing network printer or other problems related with the printer - PC connection.

Print preview video: (2.28) <u>https://youtu.be/XWJisXLZyzI</u>



### 2.29 Panelization

Panelization means placing multiple smaller objects/projects on a large work piece (panel) in order to be machined/manufactured together.

This IsoCAM3000 function allows fast and accurate multiplication of objects/projects or a group of them.

le CAM Setup Tools Calc Language	
*** *** * Q E 11 =	2 🔀 🖾 4 🗮 ≝→3 🏷 Export 🕴
¥ Insulate: 10.00	
¥ Cut: 22.60	INTERNET OF A FRANCE
¥ Stewel: 8.00 + 0.00 ml	Select/Clone/Move objects
a robort tools 125.0.62.5	Sglect All Ctrl+A
¥ 31.3, 15.6, 10.0	Glear selection Esc
U drill tools: 28.0, 31.0, 36.2,	Comparison of a structure
80.0, 90.6	State objects
	FD Seyd Object to Rottom Ctri+B
-	Send Object to Top Layer
	Send Object to Bottom Layer
	Add rubout region
Winess Press and	(2) Delete rational region
Contraction Contraction	College all submart semismer
Physians Ro.GTL	N Dalata Estantial Obligate
PhUSBIns_R0-Plat	× bette spectra officia
B PhUSBIns_R0.GTP	Gone Selected objects Ctrl+C
VID PhUSBlas_R0.GTO	Enterization
Pick Place for PhU!	· reprinted lines
Bottom Layer	R Zoom + PgUp
Vie PhUSBIns_R0.GH1	Q Zoom - PgDn
BD Phil5Blas R0.GBO	Panogame
PhUSBIns_R0.GBS	Mechanical .
	K. Move To
	Rotate & Move Selected Objects
	S Replatesting play & Thumblacky
(1 (1)	registration pais & Thumbtacgs
(0b)(1): "PhU580ns_R0.GM1"]	The Breakout Tab
otal area [n2]: 2.746 see [n]: 1.952 x 1.407	C) het folge heler
col path: 6.71 n	
And and the second of the seco	Vindo [4] -> Move (Ctrl+Z)
(Del[2]: Phuseo's_Ro.GTL]	CV_Execto ([]] (554/H+Chrl+Z)

The first step is to select the object (or group of objects) using "Select/Clone/Move objects" from the popup menu.

Shown below is the Panelization window:

PCB Panel Nun	sber of cops	es	-	Apph
Panel				
Size X (in)	10.8000	Border space X (in):	0.2500	- Unio
Size Y (m)	7.8000	Border space Y [in]:	0.2500	Close
Piduciel marks				
Include fide	sal marks	Include fiduc	ial holes	
Offset X [n]	0.1000	Offset	0.1000	
Offset Y [inj	0.1000	Offset	0.1000	
<ul> <li>Fiducal I</li> </ul>	perture:	Hole dameter (n)	0.0394	
Target	3 👻			
PCB Object				
Distance X (in	0.2500	Offset X (n)	2.6747	
Distance Y (In	0.2500	Offset Y [n]	1.6535	
Total objects:	3×4=121	(120)	Create	ew group
elected object(	2.425 in 1	x 1.404 in	Center	anel

Panelization function has two modes of placement:

- PCB Panel
- Number of copies

### 2.29.1 "PCB Panel" mode

"PCB Panel" mode allows placing the object(s) in a panel with predefined size (Panel->Size X/Y) and on certain space from the physical edges of the panel (Panel->Border space X/Y). The number of copies is calculated based on:

- size of the object(s) (Selected objects(s))
- required distance between them (PCB Object->Distance X/Y)

The offset of the objects (PCB Object->Offset X/Y) is calculated automatically regarding the parameters above. It can be entered manually, but any changes in the parameters will return it to the automatically calculated values and new manual entry will be needed. The array of objects will be centered on the declared panel.

### 2.29.2 "Number of copies" mode



This is the easiest way to create the desired number of copies of your project entering the repeats on X and Y axes.



#### 2.29.3 Fiducial marks

IsoCAM3000 allows inserting of targets & holes as fiducial marks around the panelization objects. Settings include: Offset (Fiducial marks->Offset X/Y); holes diameter (Fiducial marks->Hole diameter); aperture type (selected from the list).

The offset (Fiducial marks->Offset X/Y) depend of the mode selected. In "PCB Panel" mode, the offsets are defined in relation to Border space:



If negative values are used the marks will enter the machining space.

In "Number of copies" mode, the offsets of the fiducial marks are defined related to the area of placement of the objects. Again, if negative values are used the marks will enter the machining space. "Number of copies" mode allows easy adding of fiducial marks even on a single object. To do so the Number of copies X/Y should be set to 1.

Example:



In this case "Apply" button will not add additional copies, just will add fiducial marks.

### 2.29.4 Buttons "Apply" & "Undo" (Ctrl+Z)

Button "Apply", execute the placement of the projects/objects according to entered parameters and adds the fiducial marks.

Button "Undo" reverses the changes made after "Apply" and thus allows the operator to make changes in the parameters before next use of "Apply" with the corrected parameters.

### 2.29.5 Create new Group

This check box allows the result of panelization to be treated as a single object and moved without any changes in the relative position of the projects in the panel. This is useful function in many practical cases. If the individual object need to be moved operator can use "Ungroup selected objects" (popup menu).





Panelization video: (2.29.5) <u>https://youtu.be/mOcgK--T-fo</u>



### 2.30 Marking Drill

IsoCAM3000 allows generation of "Marking Drill" program (some call it "Spot drill") that marks the centers of the holes to be drilled. The best tool for the marking process is a V type tool (V30, V45 or V60) small diameter stub end mill will do the job too.

In order to have "Marking drill" program generated you have to select "Enable Marking Drill" box as shown below. This also will allow you to select the tool for this operation.

	hole (in)	Diameter [in]	Type	Speed (rpm)	Plunge rate [ai/m]	Feed rate [in/m]	Comment
11	0.0280	0.0280	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T1F00500C0.02800
2	0.0310	0.031	Drill bit	(60000)	(40.0)		T2F00500C0.03100
=3	0.0362	0.0362	Dvill bit	(60000)	(40.0)	÷	T3F00500C0.03622
-4	0.0394	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	#6
=5	0.0800	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	#6
	0.0906	0.0394 (1.0mm)	Router	(60000)	(20.0)	(7.5)	#6
			c	2			
defi	st.c∕¥\$	0394"/1.000mm Rou 10000 FR7.5 PE20.0 #	ter bit	⊡teable Har Cr ¥ V90 To PR9.4 5	king Drill al 0.0079"/0.20 mm V120	00mm V90 S	15000 4 Harking D

Marking Drill (Marking Drill Tool Setup):



#### Notes:

The Marking Drill program will be applied only for the holes, for which drill bit will be used. The (usually larger) holes for which router bit is selected and the slot holes are excluded from the Marking Drill program.

If the larger holes will be cut with router bit, they are excluded from the Marking Drill program!

# 2.31 Holes Selection / Modifications / Removal

IsoCAM3000 allows to select holes from the project and modify/delete them.

For holes' selection, first press and hold "R" key. Then press and hold left mouse key and select the rectangular region. The holes inside this region will be selected (will change their color). You can select many regions. To remove the selection, you can use the "ESC" key or the option "Clear Selection" from the popup menu.

Example – on the screen below 2 rectangular regions are selected (the gerber files are hidden for clarity):



You can modify the diameter of the selected holes or delete them using the popup menu (when you click the right mouse button):



With the option "Change Selected Holes' Diameter ..." you can change the size of the diameter of any hole:





### IsoCAM3000 User's Manual

In the list you can find the holes' current diameters and the number of the selected holes with this diameter.

You can change the diameter for the holes with one and the same size simultaneously.

To delete selected holes, you can use the option "Delete Selected Holes" from the popup menu.

- If the holes removal is selected, IsoCAM3000 will require additional confirmation for the process to begin.

A list of selected holes will appear including current diameter and the number of them.



#### Notes:

- In case of mistakes related to the above two functionalities, you can use "Undo/Redo".
- If the project has multiple copies the changes will affect all of them, IsoCAM3000 does not allow the copies of the same project to be different.

(2.31) https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MKYtO4IRoY0



# 2.32 QR Code

IsoCAM3000 allows to insert QR Code at the mouse position from the Pop-up menu (right mouse click):



A lot of options are available depending on the methodology of manufacturing and the pitch size:

Positive image QR Code with Gerber & Drill:



Positive image QR Code with Gerber (engraving / insulation)



The result of several inserted QR Codes with negative, positive and drill only images:





## 2.33 DataMatrix

IsoCAM3000 allows to insert DataMatrix at the mouse position from the Pop-up menu (right mouse click):

<u>Select/Clone/Move objects</u>		1
S <u>e</u> lect All	Ctrl+A	
Clear selection	Esc	
Group selected objects		
<b>Sected objects</b>		
Send Object to Bottom	Ctrl+B	
Sen <u>d</u> Object to Top Layer		
Send Object to Bottom Layer		
Add rubout region		
Delete rubout region		
Delete all rubout regions		
X Delete Selected Objects		
Clone Selected objects	Ctrl+C	
Panelization		
Selected <u>H</u> oles	•	
€ Zoom +	PgUp	
Q Zoo <u>m</u> -	PgDn	
Pano <u>r</u> ame		
Mechan <u>i</u> cal	•	
Move To		
🖒 Rotate & Move Selected Objects		
Kegistration pins & Thumbtacks	•	
🕁 Insert	Þ	+ Hole C-39.4 mil
😰 Breakout Tab	•	+ Custom hole
🔿 Set Entry Point	Ctrl+E	🕀 Through-Hole Pad C-39.4-350.0 mil
🖛 Undo [0] (Ctrl+Z)		🖶 Custom Round Through-Hole Pad
r≈ Redo [0] (Shift+Ctrl+Z)		A Vector Text
		⊕ T <u>a</u> rget
		DataMatrix
		器 QR code

A lot of options are available depending on the methodology of manufacturing, the pitch size and the image size:

Positive DataMatrix with Gerber (engraving / insulation):





The result of several inserted DataMatrix with negative, positive and drill only images and with format 80x80:



# 2.34 Pick & Place Helper

IsoCAM3000 can import Pick & Place assembly files in CSV or IPC-D-355 formats (automatically detected by the software).

Here follows an example for project import with Pick & Place file:



Gerber & Dris Import			
Select C:\PhSVision\PhSVision_PC	B\Viewfloise_64\Viewflo	se_K60\R7\Out ~ 4	Layers
▼Name	Date/Time	Sae Ext	Top & Bottom Mech Store Store Wewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.6BL 3467" x 3.307"
-     Order-19-APR-2021     Design Rule Check - Viewlicise K60H (	19-04-2021 14:32:53	645 KB DRC	✓         Bottom Overlay         B0         Variables         K60H_C64_R7.680           □         Top         Dottom         Pitch         Simple
Design Rule Check - Vewfinise KtoH (	19-04-2021 14:22:05	2553 KB HTHL	Top Bottom V Hech Street Street Barrier Barrie
N Hick Place for Viewfighter KGRI C 64 R	15-06-2021 09:08:06	26 88 657	Top Bottom Mech Start Start Treventoise_K60H_C64_R2.GTL
Pick Place for ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R	15-06-2021 09:08:05	56 KB TXT	Top Overlay 10 Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GT0
Status Report.Txt	15-06-2021 09:10:46	O KB TXT	Top Bottom Mech Carlos Street Street Street Street Street
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.apr	15-06-2021 09:07:31	11 KB APR	Top Solder 15 Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GTS
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.DRL	15-06-2021 09:07:42	15 KB DRL	Top Dottom
ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.DRR	15-06-2021 09:07:42	3 KB DRR	Top Bottom
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.EXTREP	15-06-2021 09:07:31	1 KB XTREP	😥 PMP 📱 Pick Place for Viewfinite_10001_C64_92.cov
A Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.G1	15-06-2021 09:07:26	113 KB G1	
# Viewfione_K60H_C64_R7.G2	15-06-2021 09:07:30	536 KB G2	CHieron X CHieron Y Use Dright @Center Clauble Wizard Drit Data for Viscolines #Dis Cold
Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GBL	15-06-2021 09:07:30	158 KB GBL	
WewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.GB0	15-06-2021 09:07:31	60 KB G80	
ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.GBP	15-06-2021 09:07:31	5 KB GBP	AND DESCRIPTION OF A DE
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.GBS	15-06-2021 09:07:31	11 KB G85	the second light the second of an internal to the
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.GK0	15-06-2021 09:07:31	O KB GKO	
Wewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.GH1	15-06-2021 09:07:31	O KB GH1	
Viewfioise_K66H_C64_R7.GH13	15-06-2021 09:07:31	12 KB GH13	
Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GH15	15-06-2021 09:07:31	2 KB GH15	
ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.GP8	15-06-2021 09:07:30	8 KB GPB	
Wiewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GPT	15-06-2021 09:07:30	23 KB GPT	
Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GTL	15-06-2021 09:07:26	299 KB GTL	
WewRose_K60H_C64_R7.GTO	15-06-2021 09:07:31	306 KB GTO	
Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R7.GTP	15-06-2021 09:07:31	20 KB GTP	
ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.GT5	15-06-2021 09:07:31	26 KB GTS	
Viewfloise_K60H_C64_R71DP	15-06-2021 09:07:42	O KB LDP	
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.REP	15-06-2021 09:07:31	9 KB REP	State Stat
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7.RUL	15-06-2021 09:07:31	O KB RUL	
N ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7.3ds	15-06-2021 09:10:43	#5 KB XLS	
Viewfioise_K60H_C64_R7-macro.APR_	15-06-2021 09:07:31	9 KB PR_L3B	Contraction of the state of the
ViewNoise_K60H_C64_R7-RoundHoles	15-06-2021 09:07:42	15 KB TXT	A CONTRACTOR AND A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR
Viewfioise_K6011_C64_R7-Slottfoles-P6	15-06-2021 09:07:42	O KB TXT	
CAD: Altium Designer		· Apply	Profie: Default.mpf
C1PhSVision/PhSVision_PCB\ViewNoise_64\Vi	ewNoise K60-R7\Output	Status   15-06-2021 06:10:46	1 K8 X1,3437, V0,01031 dx1,3437, dV0,0103, d1,3437 dX34,1299, dV0,2525, d34,1309 mm

When the project contains Pick & Place file, the button "Pick & Place" is visible (circled with red line on the picture below):



When the "Pick&Place" button is pressed, IsoCAM3000 shows the Pick & Place Helper window:







From this screen you can select any component, then IsoCAM3000 will show you where it is located on the PCB by making this component flashing. If only one component is selected, the project will be moved on the screen and/or resized, so that the selected component becomes in the center. If several components are selected, the project will be moved on the screen and/or resized, so that all the selected components become visible.

Using Up or Down arrow you can select next/previous designator - it is very suitable for manual component placing.



IsoCAM3000 works in similar way when you have a panel:

From the Pick & Place window, you can select top or bottom layer. You can find component's position using its designator ...

video:

(2.34) https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=U0ZC13cZ7_I



# 3. Setup 📷

All adjustments needed to run IsoCAM3000 are located in the window below:



### **3.1 CNC process control settings**



### Important:

The parameters included in this table are used in creating the G-Code programs.

The Profile box is used to select the profiles you create to store your settings. You can create many different profiles for different materials and job conditions. This allows you to do fast and complete settings changes. The current profile is always stored in your .PHJ file, so if you have to repeat your project all tool and mode settings will be the same.

"Peck" options are used to machine nonferrous metals and some special plastics and laminates. They are also very useful in drilling holes with an extremely high aspect ratio. For example you can drill 12 mil holes in a 120 mil brass work-piece. The drill penetrates 15 mils deeper at every cycle and goes up out of the hole to clear the chips each time. It takes 8 cycles to do the hole, but this is a very high achievement for drilling small holes in metal.

"Tool Penetration Depth" this parameter represents the default value for each operation. It will be used if no other settings are made (as a tool setting or process/operation setting). These settings apply to all tools except the "V" type tools. Their default settings come from geometric calculations in the "Insulation tool" window (CAM mode).

### 3.2 G-Code post processor adjustments and selections

The selections in the table below will affect the size and readability of the G-Code generated by IsoCAM3000, but they do not affect machine control.

-	G code		
	Modal X (coordinate)	Modal G (G-code)	
Display Settings	Modal Y (coordinate)	Modal F (feedrate)	
	Modal Z (coordinate)	VIndude line numbers (N) N step: 1	
G			

# 3.3 Display settings

A proper setting of screen resolution will allow you to have the actual size of objects displayed when the zoom is at 100%.

IsoCAM3000 has 7 built in skins, you are able to change them in this window.



You can change the colors for drawing of the objects on the screen, as well as create different color schemes called profiles. You can select a profile by entering the name of the profile in the profile box or selecting it from the drop-down list.

### Example:

If you want flash apertures to be in a different color:

- Select a different color from the "Gerber Top Flash" drop down list that is different than the "Gerber Top" color.
- Select a different color from the "Gerber Bottom Flash" drop down list that is different than the "Gerber Bottom" color.



#### Important:

In this manual white is the color we used for the Desktop & Background of screen shots for the purpose of saving ink/toner when it is printed. By default, the color of Desktop & Background is black in the actual program.



# 3.4 Multithreading & IsoCAM300064

**IsoCAM3000** does extraordinary volume of calculations during the detremination of tool paths in Insulation, Rubout, Remove spikes (IPD), Forced Insulation, ...

Beginnig v4.4+, all calculations are optimised for multithread execution. This creates conditions to reduce calculation duration by 2 to 8 times (depend of the hardware in use).

When a paralel processing is in use, **IsoCAM3000** will need larger size of RAM. This problem does not exist in **IsoCAM300064** - the 64 bit version of **IsoCAM3000**. This version is designed to run under **x64** OS (Vista/Win7/8/8.1) and is capable to address more than 4GB of RAM.

**IsoCAM300064** is fully identical to **IsoCAM3000**. The 64 bit version simply is capable of full utilization of the capabilities of the new x64 OSs.

**IsoCAM300064** and **IsoCAM3000** can be installed on the same computer, but only one can be run at a time.

Ther is an option for manual setting of the maximum number of paralel threads in the Setup Window.



By default the maximum number of parallel threads is equal to the number of logical cores in the CPU(s) of the computer in use.

IsoCAM3000 will utilize the maximum number of parallel threads when it is posible or needed.





# 4. In case of further questions

In case you were not able to find what you were looking for in the current manual, you can ask us a question in a dedicated email. Please, don't forget to provide screenshots, where applicable. Use the following address:

support@bungard.de